Université de Montréal

SMALL MOLECULE-MEDIATED UPREGULATION OF G3BP1

AS A THERAPY FOR ALS

Par

Asana Shokri

Département de neurosciences

Faculté de médecine

Mémoire présentée en vue de l'obtention du grade de maître en Neurosciences

Octobre, 2023

© Asana Shokri, 2023

Université de Montréal

Cette thèse intitulée :

SMALL MOLECULE-MEDIATED UPREGULATION OF G3BP1

AS A THERAPY FOR ALS

Présenté par

Asana Shokri

A été évalué par un jury composé des personnes suivantes:

Dr. Nicole Leclerc Président-rapporteur

Dr. Christine Vande Velde Directeur

> Dr. Gary Armstrong Membre du jury

Résumé

Les troubles neurodégénératifs, tels que la sclérose latérale amyotrophique (SLA) et la démence frontotemporale (DFT), ont été associés aux protéines de liaison à l'ARN (RBP). Les principales caractéristiques de la SLA sont l'agrégation d'une protéine de liaison à l'ARN appelée protéine de liaison TAR (TDP-43). Il a été démontré que TDP-43 se lie à G3BP1, un facteur de nucléation pour l'assemblage des granules de stress, pour le stabiliser. Les granules de stress sont des structures séparées par phases qui se forment dans des conditions stressantes et favorisent la survie cellulaire. Une altération de l'assemblage des granules de stress et une réduction du G3BP1 sont signalées dans la SLA. Cette réduction est due à un défaut dans les transcriptions codantes pour G3BP1 stabilisant TDP-43. Par conséquent, une réponse défaillante des granules de stress pourrait jouer un rôle majeur dans la maladie. Ainsi, ce projet de recherche se concentre sur la restauration de G3BP1, dont la déplétion est liée à la perte de fonction de TDP-43. En utilisant des composés de petites molécules identifiés lors d'une campagne de dépistage de médicaments, nous cherchons à augmenter l'expression de G3BP1, rétablissant ainsi le mécanisme SG endogène et favorisant la survie neuronale. La découverte de candidats principaux (NPX-047, NPX-000-115 et NPX-001-280) qui sauvent efficacement l'expression et la fonction de G3BP1 est prometteuse pour des thérapies potentielles contre la SLA. Ces composés ont été testés sur des cellules SHSY5Y traitées avec du si-TDP, mais aucune récupération de l'ARNm de G3BP1 n'a été observée malgré des niveaux plus élevés de signaux de luciférase. Ainsi, une enquête approfondie sur les divergences dans nos résultats constitue notre prochaine étape, ce qui n'a pas été possible pendant la durée limitée de cette mémoire. De plus, les cibles non ciblées de ces composés seront étudiées à l'aide du séquençage Bru Chase. Dans l'ensemble, cette étude explore de nouvelles stratégies pour restaurer l'expression de G3BP1, offrant ainsi une voie potentielle d'intervention thérapeutique dans la SLA.

Mots clés : ALS, FTD, TDP-43, G3BP1, SG, petite molécule, SH-SY5Y

Abstract

Neurodegenerative disorders, such as Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) and Frontotemporal Dementia (FTD), have been associated with RNA-binding proteins (RBPs). Major hallmark of ALS is aggregation of an RNA-binding protein called TAR binding protein (TDP-43). TDP-43 has shown to bind to G3BP1, a nucleating factor for stress granule assembly, to stabilize it. Stress granules (SGs) are phase separated structures that form under stressful conditions and promote cell survival. Impaired stress granules assembly and reduced G3BP1 is reported in ALS. This reduction is due to a defect in TDP-43 stabilizing G3BP1 encoding transcripts; thus, a failed stress granule response could have a major role in the disease. Thus, this research focuses on restoring G3BP1, whose depletion is linked to TDP-43 loss of function. By utilizing small-molecule compounds identified through a drug screening campaign, we seek to increase G3BP1 expression, consequently reinstating the endogenous SG mechanism and promoting neuronal survival. The discovery of lead candidates (NPX-047, NPX-000-115, and NPX-001-280) that effectively rescue G3BP1 expression and function offers promise for potential ALS therapies. These compounds were tested on SH-SY5Y cells treated with si-TDP however no rescue of G3BP1 mRNA was observed despite higher levels of luciferase signals. Thus, in-depth investigation of discrepancies in our results is our next step which was not possible during the limited timeline of this thesis. In addition, off-targets of these compounds will be investigated using BruChase-sequencing. Overall, this study explores novel strategies to restore G3BP1 expression, providing a potential avenue for therapeutic intervention in ALS.

Keywords: ALS, FTD, TDP-43, G3BP1, SGs, small-molecule, SH-SY5Y cells

Table of Contents

Résuméi
Abstractii
List of tablesx
List of figuresx
List of acronyms and abbreviationsxi
Acknowledgements xii
Chapter 1– Introduction1
1. Neurodegenerative diseases1
1.1 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS)1
1.2 Frontotemporal dementia (FTD)11
2. TDP-4315
2.1 TDP-43 structure16
2.2 TDP-43, splicing, and gene transcription18
2.3 TDP-43 and stabilizing RNA19
2.4 TDP-43 and stress granules (SGs)20
3. G3BP122
3.1 Structure of G3BP23
3.2 G3BP and SGs26
3.3 G3BP1 and G3BP227
3.4 Transcriptional regulation of G3BP128
4. Rational to the project29
5. Hypothesis and objective
Chapter 2- materials and methods

Chapter 3- Results
3.1 Cell viability assay using different doses of compounds34
3.2 NPX 000-280 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM
3.3 NPX 000-115 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM
3.4 NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 do not rescue G3BP1 mRNA levels at 40uM40
3.5 NPX-047 at 15 and 10uM do not rescue G3BP1 mRNA levels42
3.6 Edaravone did not have any effect on G3BP1 mRNA levels at 20uM44
3.7 Edaravone at 20nm and various doses of NPX-047 at nM concentration do not rescue G3BP1
levels45
3.8 TARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels do not change in 4 months old TDP-
43 M337V mice
3.9 TARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels do not change in 18 months old TDP-
43 M337V mice
Chapter 4- Discussion
Bibliographyi

List of Tables

List of figures

Figure 1. –	Transactivation response DNA binding protein 43 (TDP-43) proteinopathies13
Figure 2. –	TDP-43 structure, and ALS-related mutations18
Figure 3. –	G3BP sequence features25
Figure 4. –	Cell viability assay using different concentrations of the compounds35
Figure 5. –	NPX 000-280 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM37
Figure 6	NPX 000-115 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM39
Figure 7. –	NPX000-280 and NPX 000-115 have no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1
transcripts at	: 40uM
Figure 8. –	NPX-047 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 15uM and
10uM	
Figure 9. –	Edaravone has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM44
Figure 10. –	NPX-047 and Edaravone has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at
different nM	concentrations45
Figure 11. –	TARDBP, hTARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels in 4months old
TDP-43 M337V	mice
Figure 12. –	TARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels in 18 months old TDP-43
M337V mice	

List of acronyms and abbreviations

3'UTR: 3' untranslated region – Région 3' untranslated

5'UTR: 5' untranslated region – Région 5'untranslated

ALS: Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

AD : Alzheimer's disease

ASOs : Antisens Oligonucleotide

ATXN1: Ataxin-1

ATXN2: Ataxin-2

C.elegans: Caenorhabditis elegans

CAPRIN-1: Cytoplasmic activation/proliferation-associated protein-1

CBS: Syndrome corticobasal

DNA : Deoxyribonucleic acid

FTD: Frontotemporal dementia

FUS: Fused in sarcoma

G3BP1: Ras-GTPase-activating protein (GAP)-binding protein 1

GRN: Progranuline

hnRNP: Heterogeneous ribonuclear proteins

hnRNP A1: Heterogeneous ribonuclear protein A1

HuR: Human antigen R

IDR: Domaine intrinsèquement désordonné

JNK: c-Jun-N-terminal kinase

kDA: KiloDalton

- LLPS: Séparation de phase liquide-liquide
- MAGE-B2: Melanoma associated antigen B2
- NES: Nuclear exportation signal Signal d'exportation nucléaire
- NFκb : Nuclear factor kappa B
- NLS: Nuclear localization signal Signal de localisation nucléaire
- NTF2: Transport nucléaire 2
- **OPTN: Optineurine**
- PKR: Protein kinase R
- PPA: Aphasie progressive primare
- PxxP : Domaine intrinsèquement désordonné
- RGG: Domaine riche en glycines et arginines
- RIG-I: Retinoic acid-inducible gene I
- RNA: Ribonucleic acid
- RNP : Particule ribonucléoprotéique
- RRM1: RNA recognition motif 1, motif de reconnaissance de l'ARN 1
- RRM2: RNA recognition motif 2, motif de reconnaissance de l'ARN 2
- SLA: Sclérose latérale amyotrophique
- SOD1: Superoxyde dismutase 1
- SP-10: Acrosomal protein
- TAR: Trans-activation response element
- TARDBP: Tar-DNA binding protein

TBK1: Tank-binding kinase 1

TDP-43: Tar-DNA binding protein 43

TIA-1: T-cell-restricted intracellular antigen-1

USP10: Ubiquitin specific peptidase 10

VCP: Valosin-containing protein

To my family

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all those who have contributed to the successful completion of this thesis. Their support, guidance, and encouragement have been invaluable throughout this academic journey.

I am deeply indebted to my thesis advisor, Christine Vande Velde, for her unwavering support, mentorship, and expertise. Her guidance has been instrumental in shaping the direction and quality of this research. I am grateful for her dedication to my academic growth.

I extend my appreciation to Alex parker, Tania kastelic, Dominic cheneval for their collaboration and shared insights that have contributed to the broader perspective of this study.

To my current lab mates, Jade-Emmanuelle Deshaies, Asmita Gosh, Sarah Peyrard, Alicia Dubinski, Marianna llasera it has been has been a pleasure and honor working with you day. We have shared expertise, successes, setbacks, advice, and jokes. I wish you all nothing but success for the future. To Claudia Maios from surrogate lab, the Parker Lab, I am thankful for your support and valuable insights towards my project.

I must acknowledge the financial support provided by Target ALS, Université de Montréal, and CRCHUM for making this research possible.

Lastly, I want to express my deepest gratitude to my family for their unwavering support and understanding. Their love and encouragement have been my constant motivation throughout this academic endeavor.

This thesis would not have been possible without the collective efforts and contributions of all those mentioned above. I am profoundly grateful for their support and dedication.

Chapter 1– Introduction

1. Neurodegenerative diseases

Neurodegenerative disorders develop due to excessive apoptotic death of neurons, which probably occurs due to the accumulation of abnormal protein aggregates in the cytoplasm or nucleus of the cell, but also in the extracellular space (Mathis et al., 2017). In these diseases, there is increasing prevalence with age (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). Neurodegenerative diseases can be classified based on the anatomic distribution of neurodegeneration (e.g., frontotemporal degeneration, extrapyramidal disorders, or spinocerebellar degeneration), primary clinical features (e.g., dementia, parkinsonism, or motor neuron disease), or principal molecular abnormality (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). The protein abnormalities in these disorders have abnormal conformational properties (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). Several factors have been indicated to be involved in neurodegenerative diseases such as oxidative stress (Jaiswal, 2014), various gene polymorphisms, and pathogenic mutations which ultimately facilitate or accelerate the formation of protein aggregates (Hardiman et al., 2017). The combination of all the abovementioned factors leads to neuronal damage as a result of the loss of functional proteins and consequently loss of function (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). The neuron is also damaged by the toxic effects of newly formed pathological protein aggregates (so-called gain-of-function) (Mathis et al., 2017). The most common neurodegenerative disorders are amyloidoses, tauopathies, α synucleinopathies, and transactivation response DNA binding protein 43 (TDP-43) proteinopathies (Dugger & Dickson, 2017).

1.1 Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS)

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease that affects upper and lower motor neurons leading to paralysis and ultimately death. According to macroscopic manifestations, the motor cortex in ALS patients may exhibit modest atrophy. In addition, the spinal cord is frequently atrophic and the anterior spinal nerve roots may also exhibit atrophy. Lower motor neurons in the spinal cord and brain stem, as well as the upper motor neurons, exhibit neuronal loss and gliosis under a microscope (Brettschneider et al., 2013). The median survival of ALS patients is 30 months after symptoms onset (Talbot, 2009). Approximately 10% of ALS cases are familial (FALS) (Da Cruz & Cleveland, 2011) while the majority of ALS cases are sporadic meaning without a clear family history. Sporadic ALS is presumed to be a result of a combination of complex genetic predisposition, age-dependent alterations in cellular homeostasis, and environmental factors (Al-Chalabi et al., 2014). The heritability of ALS is high; in patients with sporadic ALS, it is believed to be between 30% and 60% (Al-Chalabi et al., 2010). In first- degree relatives of ALS patients, the risk of developing the disease doubles (Al-Chalabi et al., 2010). More than 20 genes have been associated with this condition to date. While monogenetic mutations with high effect sizes now account for 15% of ALS cases, both common and rare genetic variants with low and moderate effect sizes tend to increase the chance of developing ALS. The main pathological feature in ALS is that the TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43), a common neuropathological marker in over 95% of cases of both sporadic and familial ALS, is redistributed from a predominantly nuclear localization to form insoluble ubiquitinated aggregates in the cytoplasm of affected motor neurons (Arai et al., 2006).

1.1.1 Clinical manifestation

Different clinical neurological disorders can be identified by the prevalence of upper motor neuron (UMN) degeneration (primary lateral sclerosis, PLS), lower motor neuron (LMN) impairment (progressive muscular atrophy, PMA), or both UMN and LMN degeneration (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). ALS frequently starts with asymmetric weakness most frequently in the upper limb, which is accompanied by symptoms such as challenges in writing, difficulty swallowing, fasciculations in the arm, leg or tongue, and cramps. Weight loss is also observed which is usually caused by muscle atrophy as well as the disease itself. In the ALS variant linked with dementia (FTLD-ALS), executive and cognitive functions are also reduced (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020).

2

1.1.1.1 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis phenotypes

Many different motor phenotypes of ALS exist, and they are mainly classified based on the relative UMN versus LMN involvement and the regional distribution of involvement (Van Es et al., 2017). Since the life expectancy differs between various phenotypes of ALS (Chiò et al., 2011), and various cognitive impairments can be present, thus it is critical to understand the different phenotypes of ALS. ALS is now more often acknowledged to be a clinically heterogeneous disease. The motor signs of the illness itself are quite heterogeneous, and the motor manifestations may be accompanied by varying degrees of frontotemporal impairment (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). There are no established clinical criteria for the various ALS phenotypes thus there is an increasing demand for a new categorization scheme that takes into consideration the variety of the ALS disease (Al-Chalabi et al., 2016).

1.1.1.1.1 Subtypes of ALS related to relative UMN versus LMN involvement

The most prevalent phenotype of ALS is the classic form, which occurs in 65-70% of cases (Stetkarova & Ehler, 2021). Classic ALS is diagnosed if combined UMN and LMN loss is present in the patient (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Signs of LMN involvement include muscle weakness, fasciculations, and reduced muscle tone. Signs of UMN involvement include but are not limited to hyperreflexia and increased muscle tone (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020).

Primary lateral sclerosis (PLS) is characterized by increasing spasticity, slowing of movements, and only UMN symptoms. PLS occurs in 1-2% of people (Stetkarova & Ehler, 2021). Four years after the beginning of ALS symptoms, if electromyography (EMG) results do not show any denervation, noticeable fasciculations, or muscular atrophy, the disease could be considered as PLS (Pringle et al., 1992).

UMN-predominant ALS patients possess some characteristics of LMN involvement but much less than the UMN features (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). A shorter survival in comparison to PLS is

3

reported however a slower disease progression is recognized in comparison to classic ALS (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020).

Patients with lower motor neurons predominate ALS have relatively few UMN symptoms and might proceed at varying speeds (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). While up to 30% of individuals with progressive muscle atrophy will acquire UMN symptoms during follow-up, the disease is diagnosed by developing isolated LMN indications without clinical evidence of UMN dysfunction (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020).

1.1.1.1.2 Motor neuron disease subtypes based on the distribution of involvement by area

A catastrophic form of ALS known as bulbar ALS is defined by a fast deterioration and a median survival of two years from the beginning of the disease. Spastic dysarthria, which is recognized by distorted speech, is caused by bulbar UMN dysfunction. Tongue atrophy and fasciculation, together with flaccid dysarthria and dysphagia, are signs of bulbar LMN dysfunction. Although only around 30% of patients initially exhibit bulbar symptoms, speech, and swallowing problems ultimately affect the majority of ALS cases (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). In later stages of the disease, axial muscular weakness should be seen along with poor posture and a drooping head (Stetkarova & Ehler, 2021). Pseudobulbar palsy lacks facial emotions, has spastic dysarthria, dysphagia, difficulties in eating, and protruding tongue but no fasciculation of the tongue nevertheless there is little agreement on this condition in the literature (Finegan et al., 2019). Approximately 3% of patients with respiratory ALS first report diaphragm weakness, such as orthopnea or dyspnea (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Patients who develop respiratory symptoms have a dismal prognosis (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). In the axial variant of ALS, the onset of the disease is in paravertebral muscles, with stooped posture as a presenting symptom (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Flail arm ALS, also known as Vulpian-Bernhardt syndrome, is a progressive, primarily LMN pattern of weakness in the upper limbs that typically starts in proximal muscles and progresses to distal regions (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Up to 77% of these patients suffer from bulbar symptoms (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Males predominate heavily (male-to-female ratio: 3:1) (Wijesekera et al., 2009).

1.1.2 Diagnostics

When the disease is still in its early stages, when it advances slowly, or when other neurological disorders are also present, making the diagnosis of ALS can be challenging (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). According to reports, the likelihood of a misdiagnosis, including ALS-mimicking disorders, is between 7-8% (Traynor et al., 2000) As a result, it is critical to rule out certain ALS-mimicking diseases as soon as possible because waiting to start treatment might have a negative impact (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). In order to receive a final diagnosis, it is crucial to transfer the patient to a reputable clinical facility with expertise in diagnosing ALS. This should be done on a frequent basis (Oskarsson et al., 2018). Three key tenets guide the determination of an ALS diagnosis. One or more of the following conditions must be present (De Carvalho, 2020):

(1) signs of functional impairment in a specific body part;

(2) symptoms of central and peripheral motor neuron involvement in one or more segmental anatomical locations; and

(3) Functional impairment progression.

Without satisfying these three criteria, a diagnosis of ALS is deemed suspect and necessitates more testing, however, it may not necessarily be incorrect (Stetkarova & Ehler, 2021).

1.1.3 Prognosis

There are various prognoses for different ALS subtypes. The average life expectancy is 2-4 years in general (Marin et al., 2016). Only approximately 5-10% of people survive more than ten years following the onset of the disease, around 50% pass away within three years, and 90% pass away within five years (Brown & Al-Chalabi, 2017). Patients who receive a diagnosis later in life or who are younger often live longer. Long-term survival is also better when UMN participation over LMN

injury predominates (Zoccolella et al., 2008). Given that hypermetabolic ALS patients exhibit higher levels of LMN involvement, a quicker pace of functional deterioration, and shorter life, the metabolic index appears to be significant for ALS prognosis (Steyn et al., 2018). Patients with an initial motor manifestation of ALS-FTLD proceed substantially more quickly than those with a cognitive manifestation (Ahmed et al., 2019), and frontotemporal syndrome in ALS is linked to a low prognosis (Govaarts et al., 2016). These results imply that alterations in physiology and motor function may be closely related to disease development in ALS-FTLD (Ahmed et al., 2020).

1.1.4 Incidence and Prevalence

Individuals of all races and ethnicities were thought to be affected by the disease (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Nonetheless, whites, non-Hispanics, men, people under the age of 60, and those with a family history of ALS were more prone to develop the disease (Mehta et al., 2018). The lowest incidence was measured to be 0.89 per 100,000 people in East Asia and 0.79 per 100,000 people in South Asia (Logroscino & Piccininni, 2019) while Japan has the highest prevalence of ALS (9.9/100,000 population) (Doi et al., 2014).

1.1.5 Etiology

The first ALS-related gene, *SOD1*, was identified in 1993 and accounts for 1%–2% of sporadic ALS (sALS) and 20% of familial ALS (fALS), respectively (Rosen et al., 1993). Mutations in this gene make the SOD1 protein more susceptible to aggregation, which interferes with a number of crucial physiological processes. Mutations in the *TARDBP* and *FUS* genes, which encode the RNA-binding proteins TDP-43 and FUS, were first identified in 2008 and 2009. 3%–5% of fALS and 1% of sALS are caused by these mutations (Kabashi et al., 2008; Kwiatkowski et al., 2009; Sreedharan et al., 2008; Vance et al., 2009). *C9orf72*, which accounts for 30%–50% of fALS and 7%–10% of sALS, was identified in 2011 (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011). Patients with *C9orf72* hexanucleotide repeat expansions are more likely to develop cognitive impairment and bulbar

onset ALS. With up to 10% of individuals with ALS-FTD being affected, *TBK1* mutations are most likely the fifth most frequent cause of autosomal dominant ALS, accounting for roughly 1% of patients (Cirulli et al., 2015). The other genes indicated in ALS are known to have a reduced penetrance, which makes genetic counseling more challenging (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Patients with mutations in more than one of these genes are extremely rare, which suggests that ALS may have an oligogenic origin (van Blitterswijk et al., 2012).

The origin of sporadic ALS has not yet been determined. Glutamate- and homocysteine-mediated excitotoxicity, failure of proteostasis, mitochondrial malfunction, oligodendrocyte dysfunction, cytoskeletal disturbances, axonal transport defects, disturbed RNA metabolism, impaired DNA repair, oxidative stress, immune system dysfunction inducing chronic inflammation and nucleocytoplasmic transport deficits have all been taken into consideration, but these hypotheses have not been proven (Brown & Al-Chalabi, 2017; Longinetti & Fang, 2019; Talbott et al., 2016). Age, male sex, body mass index, blood lipid levels, and smoking are additional risk factors for the development of ALS (Longinetti & Fang, 2019; Zhan & Fang, 2019). Moreover, Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) is causally related to ALS, and both East Asian and European people are more likely to develop the disease when their LDL levels are greater (Zeng & Zhou, 2019). An epidemiological study have linked traumatic brain injury (TBI) to ALS (McKee et al., 2009) nonetheless another study have refuted this claim (Armon & Nelson, 2012).

1.1.6 Pathology

In genetic and pathological examinations of ALS patients, injury to the neuromuscular junction, dysfunction of motoneuron homeostasis, inadequate energy supply, abnormal axonal branching, and axonal transport have all been noted (Suzuki et al., 2020). The UMNs and LMNs lose their neuromuscular connections and experience subsequent cell death surrounded by astrogliosis and microgliosis, with ubiquitin-positive inclusions being seen in the remaining neurons (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). This is the neuropathological characteristic of ALS. More than 95% of ALS patients have TDP-43 as the primary component of these inclusions (Neumann et al., 2006). TDP-43, is involved in some pathways, including RNA transport, transcription, microRNA maturation, splicing,

7

and the creation of stress granules (Neumann et al., 2006). TDP-43 shuttles back and forth between the nucleus and cytoplasm in accordance with its nuclear and cytoplasmic activities however it is mostly nuclear in location. A distinguishing feature of ALS is the mislocalization of TDP-43 to the cytoplasm, which results in nuclear TDP-43 depletion and cytoplasmic TDP-43 protein aggregation (Mackenzie et al., 2010). Excitotoxicity, proteostasis failure, mitochondrial dysfunction, neuroinflammation, oligodendrocyte dysfunction, oxidative stress, cytoskeletal abnormalities, disturbed RNA metabolism, axonal transport defects, impaired DNA repair, nucleocytoplasmic transport deficits are just a few of the molecular pathways that have been linked to the pathogenesis of ALS (Brown & Al-Chalabi, 2017; Taylor et al., 2016). It is interesting to note that many of the genes linked to ALS seem to congregate in important pathways, including RNA metabolism, cytoskeletal and axonal transport, protein quality control, and degradation (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020).

1.1.6.1 Failure of proteostasis

Cellular stress is brought on by protein aggregates or, more likely, the oligomeric complex progenitors of these aggregates (Webster et al., 2016). Molecular chaperones can help refold misfolded proteins and prevent protein aggregation however when the cell is overrun by misfolded proteins, the ubiquitin-proteasome system will target them for degradation. Alternatively, protein aggregates can bind to p62 (sequestosome 1) and then be degraded through the lysosomal route (autophagy pathway). Interestingly, Mutations in ALS-related genes, such as *C9orf72* (Webster et al., 2016), Optineurin (*OPTN*, functioning as a receptor for autophagy) (Maruyama et al., 2010), *TBK1* (activates OPTN by phosphorylation), *SQSTM1* (Fecto et al., 2011) and valosin-containing protein (*VCP*) (Johnson et al., 2010) cause protein aggregation and defective degradation. Thus, they indicate a significant role in the etiology of ALS.

1.1.6.2 Disturbed RNA metabolism

ALS etiology involves an important number of RNA-binding proteins. The process of deregulation of RNA metabolism has been linked to ALS as a result of the discovery of mutations in the genes of two similar RNA-binding proteins, FUS and TDP-43 (Buratti et al., 2010). Additional changes in RNA-binding proteins like matrin 3 (MATR3), angiogenin (ANG), ataxin 2 (ATXN2), senataxin (STX), heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoproteins A1 (hnRNP A1) and A2/B1 (hnRNP A2/B1) support the hypothesis that disrupted RNA metabolism likely plays a significant role in ALS (Boeynaems et al., 2016). These proteins are mostly found in the nucleus of cells where they play a crucial role in the processes of non-coding RNA metabolism, miRNA synthesis, splicing, and transcription. Nuclear depletion can therefore be harmful and result in severe transcriptome abnormalities. Furthermore, aggregation and mislocalization to the cytoplasm may result in toxicity (Boeynaems et al., 2016).

1.1.6.3 Axonal transport abnormalities and cytoskeletal impairment

Profilin 1 (PFN1) and tubulin alpha 4A (TUBA4A) mutations, which only infrequently cause ALS, were found to destabilize the tubulin network and result in deficiencies in axonal transport (De Vos & Hafezparast, 2017). ALS or FTD may also result from point mutations in the gene encoding the dynactin1 (DCTN1), component of the dynactin complex (Bercier et al., 2019). The dynactin complex is a crucial dynein motor activator that modifies motor activity and stabilizes cargo binding. Additionally, the anterograde transport of cargo through the microtubules may be hampered by mutations in the C-terminus of kinesin-1, which is encoded by KIF5A (kinesin heavy chain isoform 5A) (Nicolas et al., 2018). All of the above-mentioned studies support the relevance of cytoskeletal integrity and axonal transport in ALS.

1.1.7 Treatments

In spite of massive efforts in recent years to find an effective treatment for ALS, the disease is still considered incurable nonetheless to date, some molecules have been approved by the FDA to treat the disease, such as Riluzole, Tofersen, and Edaravone. Riluzole, a glutamate-release inhibitor whose mechanism of action still needs further investigation, was approved in 1996 (Blyufer et al., 2021; Gordon, 2013). Initial research showed that the use of Riluzole extended the survival of patients by three to six months. However, new studies argue that it does not extend lifespan or improve motor functions in several animal models of ALS as previously reported (Andrews et al., 2020; Jaiswal, 2019). Human studies are also very variable. While some groups reported an increase in lifespan of 6 to 19 months, other groups reported no improvement (Andrews et al., 2020; Zoccolella et al., 2007). These observations have called into question the validity of the standards used for the study of potential therapies for ALS and the use of Riluzole as a treatment (Hogg et al., 2018). Edaravone, another FDA-approved drug and a low-specificity antioxidant that scavenges various free radicals, has been approved recently as a therapeutic agent for ALS in Japan (2015), the USA (2017), and Canada (2018) (Breiner et al., 2020; Hardiman & van den Berg, 2017; Kikuchi et al., 2017). Edaravone appears to be effective in patients meeting specific criteria, including early-stage disease and rapid progression (Abe et al., 2014; Okada et al., 2018). However, the therapeutic benefits of Edaravone on other patient subgroups remains unknown; therefore, further studies are yet to be performed. The mechanisms of action of Edaravone remain largely unknown. Despite all the efforts made, more than 40 clinical trials have proven inconclusive in recent years (Mitsumoto et al., 2014). Tofersen or BIIB067, was approved in April 2023 by the FDA to treat fALS associated with a mutation in the SOD1 gene. Tofersen which is an antisense oligonucleotide targets the protein result of the mutation in SOD1 (Miller et al., 2013). This drug slows down muscle degeneration in those eligible for treatment by targeting SOD1 messenger RNA (mRNA) (Miller et al., 2013). Additionally, symptomatic treatment for ALS has advanced through the decades. Muscle cramps are a major source of discomfort for ALS patients. Although there is currently no effective treatment for muscle cramps, recent trials have shown that mexilitene significantly reduces cramps (Weiss et al., 2016). Furthermore, patients with pseudobulbar palsy can now be treated for pseudobulbar affect, which is

characterized by episodic emotional outbursts, using a combination of dextromethorphan and low-dosage quinidine, known as NUEDEXTA® (Brooks et al., 2004). The FDA authorized NUEDEXTA® after two controlled trials showed that it reduced emotional outbursts by more than 90% (Brooks et al., 2004; Pioro et al., 2010). Sialorrhoea is another symptom of patients that is frustrating and when oral agents become ineffective, botulinum toxin injection into salivary glands is usually effective (Jackson et al., 2009). Evidence suggests that radiotherapy of the salivary glands may be an effective alternative (Assouline et al., 2014). Effective treatment for respiratory insufficiency with non-invasive ventilation at night could alleviate dyspnoea, improve quality of life, and sleep, and extend survival. (Vrijsen et al., 2013). Thus, while we wait for more effective treatments we may make use of some of therapies to lessen the impact of this devastating disease (Miller & Appel, 2017).

1.2 Frontotemporal dementia (FTD)

Frontotemporal dementia (FTD) is the second most frequent cause of dementia in people under 65. FTD is marked by advancing alterations in behavior, personality, and/or language, with comparatively intact memory. The non-fluent and semantic variations of primary progressive aphasia (PPA), as well as the behavioral variant (bvFTD), are important clinical subgroups. Additionally, extrapyramidal movement disorders such as atypical parkinsonism or corticobasal syndrome (CBS) or motor neuron diseases like ALS are frequently linked to motor characteristics in FTD (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). TDP-43 is linked to the most frequent pathogenic form of frontotemporal dementia. There are three main kinds of TDP-43 inclusions: neuronal intranuclear inclusions, neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions, and dystrophic neurites (Fig.1 A-D) (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). Two teams, Mackenzie et al. (2006) and Sampathu et al. (2006) documented neuroanatomical and morphological subtype inclusions in FTD shortly after the identification of TDP-43. In order to create a unified categorization method, these two systems were integrated in 2011 (Mackenzie et al., 2011). According to this, patients with mutations in the progranulin gene (GRN) who are clinically diagnosed with either progressive nonfluent aphasia or behavioural variant FTD are more likely to have type A (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). TDP-43 is seen in more varied neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions in the neocortex (Fig. 1B) and coarse granular inclusions in the hippocampus dentate fascia (Fig. 1A and Inset) (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). In addition, there are varying numbers of neuronal intranuclear inclusions (Fig. 1B's Inset) and short, thin dystrophic neurites in the cortex's outermost layers (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). In patients with hexanucleotide expansions in the C9ORF72 gene, Type B is the most common (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). This type which can be related to motor neuron disease, is primarily characterised by neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions with few or no neurites and no neuronal intranuclear inclusions (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011; Renton et al., 2011). Patients who have Type C often exhibit a semantic variation of progressive aphasia (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). Long, thick dystrophic neurites randomly arranged in all cortical layers are what define this kind (Fig. 1D and Inset) (Dugger & Dickson, 2017). The hippocampus, amygdala, and basal ganglia all have wellcircumscribed (Pick-body-like) neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions (Fig.1C and Inset) (Josephs et al., 2008). An uncommon fourth type, type D, is linked to mutations in the VCP, and it manifests as frontotemporal dementia, inclusion body myositis, and Paget's disease of the bones. Numerous neuronal intranuclear inclusions in the cortical and subcortical regions are a hallmark of type D (Dugger & Dickson, 2017).



Figure 1. – Transactivation response DNA binding protein 43 (TDP-43) proteinopathies. Adapted from Dugger BN and Dickson DW, 2017. Neurons in the dentate fascia frequently exhibit granular neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions in FTLD-TDP Type A (A, inset), whereas the afflicted cortices have, short curved dystrophic neurites, more pleomorphic neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions and neuronal intranuclear inclusions (B, inset). Round, well-circumscribed (Pick-body-like) neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions are common in the hippocampus's dentate fascia (C), nevertheless, they are uncommon in the afflicted cortices, where lengthy, thick dystrophic neurites (D, inset) constitute the most distinguishing hallmark of FTLD-TDP Type C.

1.2.1 Spectral convergence with ALS

Due to the convergence of associated genes and the comorbidity of symptoms, it is now undeniable that ALS and FTD are part of the same pathological spectrum. About 50% of ALS patients may experience frontal and anterior temporal lobe degeneration, which may result in behavioral problems, language difficulties, and executive dysfunction (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). At the same time, 30% of patients diagnosed with FTD have motor symptoms, and 13% are diagnosed with ALS (Wood et al., 2021). Roughly 50% of ALS patients will have normal cognition, but when the conditions for behavioral variant FTD or primary progressive aphasia are

met, the disease can be diagnosed as ALS-FTD in roughly 10% to 15% of patients (Table 1) (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020). Only two of the six criteria for behavioral variant FTD are necessary for ALS-related behavioral impairment (Masrori & Van Damme, 2020).

At first, the genetic convergence of the two diseases was suspected however it was with the discovery of TDP-43 as the main resident of pathological aggregates in post-mortem patients, and mutations in the *C9ORF72* gene as a major cause of ALS and FTD cases that the final piece of the puzzle was placed (Al-Chalabi & Hardiman, 2013; Neumann et al., 2006), and these two diseases were then recognized as being at the extremes of the same spectrum (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011; Neumann et al., 2006; Renton et al., 2011). Histopathologically, the presence of TDP-43 or FUS inclusions in neurons and glial cells has also confirmed the similarity between these two diseases. The presence of these inclusions also suggests that there are common molecular mechanisms between these two diseases. Indeed, loss of RNA homeostasis (particularly of RNA granules), problems with nucleocytoplasmic transport and proteostasis are also observed in FTD (Balendra & Isaacs, 2018; Deleon & Miller, 2018; Wang et al., 2021). These findings further support that ALS and FTD are from the same spectrum.

Disorder	Variants	Clinical diagnosis	Imaging (¹⁸ F FDG PET/ CT of the brain)
Primary progressive aphasia (PPA)	Non-fluent agrammatic variant primary progressive aphasia (naPPA)	 At least one: agrammatism errors and omissions, as well as samplification f grammatical forms prosody (the rhythm or melody of speech), as well as speech sound errors (such as motor- based speech planning errors 'apraxia of speech') at least two of the following criteria must be fulfilled:- impaired comprehension of complex sentences spared single-word comprehension spared object knowledge 	Atrophy of anterior perisylvian atrophy involving inferior, opercular and insular portions of the left frontal lobe
	Semantic variant of primary progressive aphasia (svPPA)	 Impaired confrontation naming Impaired comprehension of single words At least three of the following criteria must be fulfilled: degraded object knowledge surface dyslexia or dysgraphia, in which sight vocabulary words are pronounced as written spared repetition spared speech production 	Atrophy of left anterior temporal atrophy affecting lateral and ventral surfaces as well as the anterior hippocampus and the amygdala
	Logopenic variant primary progressive aphasia (lv-PPA)	 Profound difficulty in word finding Impaired repetition of phrases, partly as a result of limited auditory– verbal short-term memory At least three of the following criteria must be fulfilled: speech (phonologic) errors in spontaneous speech and naming spared single-word comprehension and object knowledge spared motor speech absence of frank agrammatism 	Atrophy of left posterior perisylvian or parietal lobe
Behavioural variant frontotemporal dementia (bvFTD)		 At least three: behavioural disinhibition apathy or inertia loss of sympathy or empathy stereotypical, perseverative or compulsive behaviour hyperorality or dietary changes executive deficits with relative sparing of visuospatial skills and memory 	Prefrontal or anterior temporal cortex loss, particularly in the right hemisphere

FTD, frontotemporal dementia; ¹⁸F FDG PET/CT, ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography.

2. TDP-43

TDP-43 is a 43-kDa protein that is highly conserved throughout mammals and invertebrates and is widely expressed in almost all tissues. It has major roles regarding stress granules, RNA metabolism, gene splicing, and transcriptional repression (Ratti & Buratti, 2016). Normally a

nuclear protein, TDP-43 develops inclusion bodies throughout the cytoplasm, nucleus, and cell processes in neurodegenerative disorders. Nucleocytoplasmic transport and nuclear pore complexes can be directly disturbed by cytoplasmic clumps of TDP-43 (Chou et al., 2018). Moreover, Nucleoporins and transport factors mislocalize and aggregate as a result of TDP-43 aggregates (Chou et al., 2018). TDP-43 contains a nuclear localization signal (NLS) sequences that control its cellular localization in the cytoplasm and nucleus and TDP-43 mislocalization may be increased by certain missense variants, such as ALS-related A90V mutation in the NLS (Winton et al., 2008). TDP-43 was shown to be the main component of neuronal inclusions in ALS and frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin inclusions (Neumann et al., 2006). Aside from ALS and FTD, aberrant TDP-43 may be seen in 25% to 50% of Alzheimer's disease patients, mostly in the limbic region (Josephs et al., 2014); therefore, TDP-43 pathology and its' mislocalization to the cytoplasm and subsequent aggregation are significant components in many neurodegenerative diseases which ultimately aids in neuronal dysfunction and toxicity.

2.1 TDP-43 structure

TDP-43 protein is made of the N-terminal domain (NTD), two RNA recognition motifs (RRM1 and RRM2; residues 104–200 and residues 191-262, respectively), and the C-terminal domain (CTD; residues 274–413) (Barmada et al., 2010). The NTD region contains a ubiquitin-like fold with one α -helix and six β -sheets and promotes TDP-43 self-oligomerization (Chang et al., 2012). It was discovered that the hydrophobic interface that surrounds the β 7-strand is important for NTD dimerization (Jiang et al., 2017). TDP-43 undergoes disulfide formation to become a tetramer when protein concentration rises (Jiang et al., 2017). Reversible formation of TDP-43 polymers through the NTD has been demonstrated to be necessary for splicing activity (Afroz et al., 2017), and to contribute to phase separation via liquid-droplet (Afroz et al., 2017), and stress granule formation (Molliex et al., 2015). Full-length TDP-43 exhibits splicing activity in the nucleus in both the dimeric and tetrameric forms. The conserved phosphosite Ser 48 (A. Wang et al., 2018), one of three putative mitochondrial targeting sequences (Wang et al., 2016), and potential nucleotide binding site (A. Wang et al., 2018) are also located at the NTD. In order to participate in hydrogen

bonding interactions, phosphosite Ser 48 is moved towards the interface. According to research simulating phosphorylation at this location interferes with the NTD's ability to self-associate and alters splicing function (A. Wang et al., 2018). Additionally, TDP-43 appears to be shielded from aggregation and inclusion formation in the cytoplasm by the creation of dimers or tetramers (Jiang et al., 2017), and mutations of the nuclear localization sequence (NLS) in the NTD are the cause of cytoplasmic localization and aggregation of TDP-43 (Fig. 2). Two RRM domains in TDP-43, each with five β -strands and two α - helices, are present in order to carry out diverse tasks in translational control, transcriptional suppression, and pre-mRNA alternative splicing. These regions have been shown to bind UG/TG-rich single-stranded or double-stranded DNA/RNA (Kuo et al., 2009). The TDP-43 protein's C-terminus controls protein-protein interactions and is crucial for the protein's solubility and cellular localization (Ayala et al., 2008). Glycine, glutamine, and asparagine are all abundant in this domain. These sequences mimic the prion-like domain sequences (Patel et al., 2009). Prion-like domains are low-complexity sequences that are concentrated in glycine, asparagine, glutamine, and other uncharged polar amino acids, such as tyrosine. In controlling the solubility and folding of proteins, the prion-like domain is crucial. Proteins with prion-like domains phase separate into spherical, membraneless compartments, known as liquid-liquid phase separation (Shin & Brangwynne, 2017). It is proposed that through liquid-solid phase separation, the presence of mutations or abnormal posttranslational modifications causes the establishment of irreversible aggregation (Maharana et al., 2018). TDP-43 has been reported to contain several mutations that have been linked to ALS and FTLD, and the majority of these mutations are found in the C-terminal domain (Sreedharan et al., 2008). Some TDP-43 C-terminal mutations, including G376D, G294V, M337V, A315T and A382T encourage cytoplasmic mislocalization and aggregation through as-yet-unidentified mechanisms (Barmada et al., 2010; Mitsuzawa et al., 2018; Mutihac et al., 2015). TDP-43 mutations, such as N390S, G294A, M337V, N390D, Q331K, and Q343R when expressed in SH-SY5Y cells increase protein aggregation (Nonaka et al., 2009). Additionally, it has been discovered that several peptides with pathogenic TDP-43 mutations, including G295S, G294A, and G294V may twist into amyloid-like fibers (Sun et al., 2014). The most important part of TDP-43 that contributes to aggregation is therefore its CTD domain.

17



Figure 2. – **TDP-43 structure, and ALS-related mutations.** From (Joy & Muralidhar, 2020). Two RNA recognition motifs (RRMs), Nuclear localization sequence (NLS), nuclear export sequence (NES), and a glycine-rich domain make up the TDP-43 protein, which also comprises the bulk of the genetic alterations linked to ALS. Sporadic ALS-linked mutations are in blue color and familial ALS-related mutations are depicted in red.

2.2 TDP-43, splicing, and gene transcription

TDP-43 regulates mRNA stability, splicing, and translation as well as gene transcription by binding to both mRNA and DNA. TDP-43 was first identified as a transcriptional repressor in 1995. The Transactive Response Element (TAR) of the Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) has a region rich in pyrimidines, and TDP-43 attaches to the TAR via its RNA binding domain (Ou et al., 1995). This binding prevents the virus's gene from being activated. The expression of the ACRV1 and SP-10 genes, is also suppressed by TDP-43, allowing spermatogenesis to proceed normally (Abhyankar et al., 2007). TDP-43 targets DNA regions like promoter sequences or regulates transcription by remodeling chromatin rather than interacting with the polymerase directly (Li et al., 2012). A significant alteration of the cellular transcriptional profile results after TDP-43 nuclear depletion. For instance, genes containing transposable elements are enriched when TDP-43 is lost from the nucleus (Morera et al., 2019). Additionally, TDP-43 colocalizes with active transcription sites in rat neurons, supporting its activity in transcription and the alternative splicing mechanism. TDP-43 has been shown to have a more extensive function in the control of RNA expression and splicing in two studies. TDP-43, as demonstrated by research by Polymenidou et al., is essential for maintaining the mRNA levels of choline acetyltransferase, the disease-related proteins FUS/TLS, synaptic proteins, and progranulin, as well as others involved in different neurological diseases (Polymenidou et al., 2011). In the other study by Tollervey et al it was demonstrated RNAs that encode proteins that control neuronal growth and survival are bound by TDP-43 (Tollervey et al., 2011). They identified the noncoding RNAs, MALAT1 and NEAT1, as disease-related TDP-43 targets in FTLD. Future research may help to better understand how this fascinating family of noncoding RNAs regulates splicing in both healthy and diseased conditions (Cohen et al., 2011). These findings demonstrate that TDP-43 directly binds to a variety of essential target RNAs, It's interesting to note that the majority of these targets are involved in neurotransmitter modulation, synapse development and function, splicing, RNA maturation, as well as numerous genes linked to neurodegeneration, including ATXN1, ATNX2, and GRN suggesting that TDP-43 activity promotes and/or maintains healthy neuronal function and integrity (Cohen et al., 2011).

2.3 TDP-43 and stabilizing RNA

According to Fukushima et al., TDP-43 helps keep the cellular transcriptome stable (Fukushima et al., 2019). TDP-43 primarily binds RNAs via a GU dinucleotide repeat motif, according to early *in vitro* experiments (Buratti & Baralle, 2001), but a consensus TDP-43 binding site *in vivo* has yet to be conclusively identified (Cohen et al., 2011). The most significant RNA binding, nevertheless, occurred at either a GU-rich motif interrupted by a single adenine or unbroken GU repeats, according to previous assessments of global TDP-43 binding sites (Hallegger et al., 2021; Polymenidou et al., 2011; Tollervey et al., 2011). TDP-43 binds to UG-rich regions in order to control transcript stability. The degradation of the transcripts will be prevented or accelerated by the protein's binding to these sites. It has been proposed that cofactors that bind to a specific transcript and TDP-43 are the cause of the variation in how these transcripts are stabilized. To fully comprehend the underlying processes, further research is required. Studies demonstrate

that both TDP-43 and FUS/TLS bind and stabilize the mRNA encoding histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6), a previously identified microtubule deacetylase (Lee et al., 2010). As HDAC6 has recently been linked to mitophagy and the removal of misfolded protein aggregates, TDP-43 and/or FUS/TLS may improve neuron survival or neuroprotection through increased HDAC6 expression (Kawaguchi et al., 2003). Recently, endogenous mouse TDP-43 was depleted using TDP-43 transgenic mice that expressed a TDP-43 mutant that is localized to the cytoplasm due to a faulty nuclear localization sequence (TDP-43-NLS). This provides a potential TDP-43 loss of function animal model (Igaz et al., 2011). Interestingly, a collection of genes whose mRNA expression profile was dramatically changed in the brain tissue of TDP-43-NLS mice included the expression of histones and histone regulatory proteins, which are normally expressed in mitotic cells (Cohen et al., 2011). In addition to transcriptional alterations (118 upregulated and 136 downregulated transcripts), Depletion of TDP-43 by siRNA in mouse embryonic motor neurons causes abnormalities in axonal development, reduced protein synthesis, and mitochondrial dysfunction in axonal compartments (Briese et al., 2020). Furthermore, Tank et al., discovered significant RNA transcript destabilization using patient-derived cells from sporadic ALS patients, which may have resulted in enhanced protein synthesis (Tank et al., 2018). Deletion of the mutant allele results in a 1.5-fold increase in endogenous wild-type protein production in mice models expressing human TDP-43 A382T or G348C heterozygously (Hasegawa et al., 2016). We now know that TDP-43's lack of nuclear function has the ability to raise the protein's levels, which might lead to further protein accumulation in the cytoplasm in ALS-FTD patients.

2.4 TDP-43 and stress granules (SGs)

2.4.1 SGs and neurodegenerative diseases

SGs are collections of membrane-free messenger ribonucleoprotein complexes (mRNPs) that have halted translation. RNA binding proteins (RBP) mediate eukaryotic cells' condensation to produce SGs in response to environmental stressors, such as oxidative conditions, heat,

hyperosmolarity, viral infections, and UV irradiation (Anderson & Kedersha, 2002; Buchan & Parker, 2009). The development of SGs controls signaling pathways that are strongly connected to nuclear function, cell death, and viral infection (Protter & Parker, 2016). Under stressful circumstances, SGs can potentially function as an oxidative regulator in cells (Takahashi et al., 2013). In addition, by isolating the invader and restricting the translation of viral mRNAs when host cells are attacked by viruses, SGs can fend off viral invasion however many viruses have developed ways to prevent the development of SGs and elude the host's antiviral response (Cohen et al., 2011). Neurodegenerative diseases have been associated with mutations in a variety of stress granule components (Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). Studies on stress granule dynamics have been conducted in immortalized cell lines (such as HEK293 or HeLa) however to further understand how stress granules are impacted by neurodegenerative diseases, it is crucial to consider the role of stress granule dynamics in neurons and/or in vivo. According to three theories by Li et al., stress granules may be linked to neurodegeneration in three different ways (Li et al., 2013). First, improperly assembled stress granules that are not functioning might lead to increased neuronal susceptibility (Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). Second, according to Baron et al., stress granules, which develop under stress but do not break down, gradually change from a liquid to a solid state, successfully seeding the cytosolic inclusions that are usually linked to neurodegenerative disorders (Baron et al., 2013). Last but not least, stress granules that do not disintegrate may sequester cellular chaperones or translation factors (Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). Thus, understanding how stress granules act in neurons and the functional repercussions of their malfunction is crucial since it is probable that a combination of these mechanisms contributes to the development and progression of neurodegeneration.

2.4.2 TDP-43, pathogenic aggregates and SGs

As a part of stress granules, TDP-43 controls the formation and disassembly of stress granules (McDonald et al., 2011). According to some studies, loss of stress granule function results in loss of TDP-43 localization, whilst others contend that stress granules are probable antecedents of the

21
inclusions found in ALS and FTD (Colombrita et al., 2012). Additionally, RNA interferencemediated TDP-43 depletion decreased the size of stress granules and slowed the pace at which they were assembled, making cells more sensitive to stress (Khalfallah et al., 2018). Research also revealed that lymphoblastic cells from individuals expressing TDP-43R316S took longer to disassemble the Stress granules after being treated with sodium arsenite than lymphoblastic cells from patients with the wild-type allele (McDonald et al., 2011). Therefore, during stress exposure, TDP-43 is needed for both the assembling and disassembling of stress granules.

3. G3BP1

All cells express Ras-GTPase-activating protein (G3BP), a site-specific ribonucleic acid endonuclease (Kang et al., 2021). G3BP family consists of G3BP1, G3BP2a and G3BP2b. Different genes on human chromosomes 5 and 4 and mouse chromosomes 11 and 5 encode G3BP1 and G3BP2, respectively. While G3BP2 is substantially expressed in the small intestine and brain, G3BP1 is significantly expressed in the lungs and kidneys (Kennedy et al., 2001; Krapp et al., 2017). G3BP1 is critical for cell survival as well as a major participant in the fight against viral infections (Lloyd, 2016; White & Lloyd, 2011). The retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) can be stimulated to recognize RNA viruses by G3BP1, which can operate as an antiviral factor (Onomoto et al., 2012) nevertheless by modifying G3BP, several viruses have developed new methods of action that let them replicate more easily and get through the host's cellular defense (Kang et al., 2021). Furthermore, G3BP1 is an essential piece in cancer invasion and metastasis. According to studies (Dou et al., 2016; Wang, Fu, et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2015, 2019), it helps tumors and cancer cells resist chemotherapeutics and hostile environments (Wang et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019). Several studies point to G3BP targeting as a viable treatment approach for cancer (Kang et al., 2021) however G3BP1 regulation and precise functions are still mostly unknown. The development of G3bp1^{-/-} mice, which show late embryonic lethality, highlights the significance of G3BP1 (Zekri et al., 2005). All organs were normal, with the only obvious anomaly being significant cell death in the brain, according to an examination of G3bp1^{-/-} neonates (Zekri et al.,

2005). Internal capsule neurons, cortical neurons, and CA1 pyramidal neurons of the hippocampus all exhibited pyknosis and activated caspase-3 (Zekri et al., 2005). Importantly, the absence of this discovery in other organs suggests that the lethality is the result of CNS-based neuronal cell death. Given that G3BP1 is widely expressed it was unexpected to discover that genetic deletion of G3BP1 is crucial for physiological neuronal functioning (Sidibé et al., 2021).

3.1 Structure of G3BP

The G3BP1 gene in humans, which is located on chromosome 5, encodes G3BP1. Only two of the 14 transcripts produced by the transcription of this gene code for the 466 amino acid protein; the rest are destroyed by a process known as non-sense mediated decay (GTEx) (Sidibé et al., 2021). The size of the two protein-coding transcripts' untranslated sections is what distinguishes them from one another (Kang et al., 2021). The larger transcript has a 132 nucleotide 5'UTR and an 8,694 nucleotide 3'UTR, whereas the shorter transcript has a 145 nucleotide 5'UTR and a 1,263 nucleotide 3'UTR (Figure 3a) (GTEx, UCSC genome browser) (Sidibé et al., 2021). These differences imply that the regulation and/or localization of the transcripts may differ (Sidibé et al., 2021). Although it has an apparent molecular weight of 68 kDa on a conventional Laemmli SDS-PAGE, the G3BP1 protein has a theoretical molecular weight of 55 kDa (Sidibé et al., 2021). G3BP1 has structural similarities with members of the heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein (hnRNP) group of proteins. Nuclear transport factor 2 (NTF2), a tiny homodimer that is critical for nuclear transport through RanGDP import, shares a significant degree of structural similarity with the protein's N-terminal region (amino acids 1–139) (Nehrbass & Blobel, 1996; Vognsen et al., 2013). Despite the fact that G3BP1 is generally found to be localized to the cytosol, this resemblance has led some researchers to hypothesize that the NTF2-like domain of G3BP1 has a similar role in nuclear shuttling (Vognsen et al., 2013). It was originally believed that this domain, which is the most conserved part of the G3BP1 protein sequence, acted as a RasGAP-binding site; however, this has now been called into doubt (Xu et al., 2013). G3BP1 dimerization and interactions with other proteins, such as cytoplasmic activation/proliferation-associated protein 1 (Caprin1), require the NTF2-like domain. The area 139–340 comprises two intrinsically disordered regions (IDR1 and IDR2), the first half of which is enriched for proline residues (PxxP; amino acids 222– 340), and the second half of which is mostly composed of acidic amino acids (139–221) (figure 3b). According to Booker et al. (1993), these areas are also connected to protein-protein interactions (Booker et al., 1993). The number of PxxP motifs can be used to distinguish G3BP1 and G3BP2 from one another. With just one PxxP motif, G3BP1 may be less able to interact with proteins than G3BP2a or G3BP2b, which contain four and five PxxP motifs, respectively (Figure 4b) (Krapp et al., 2017). G3BP1 has an RNA recognition motif (RRM) between amino acids 340-415, which indicates that it is an RNA-binding protein (RBP) (Sidibé et al., 2021). The binding platform created by beta sheets allows this RRM, which contains of two conserved amino acid sections of RNP1 and RNP2, to interact with RNA sequences of 2-8 nucleotides (Cléry et al., 2008). The change of Ile for Val in the RNP-2 common sequence is the primary distinction between the G3BP1 and G3BP2 RRMs (Kennedy et al., 2001). The arginine, glycine, and glycine repeat (RGG) domain of G3BP1 contains a third intrinsically disordered region (IDR3), which because of RGG clusters that promote non-specific RNA interactions, generates an exposed structure with no clear definition. The RGG domain's post-translational changes affect interactions with proteins and mRNAs (Sidibé et al., 2021).



Figure 3. – **G3BP sequence features.** From Sidibé et al., 2021. (a) A schematic illustration of the transcripts for G3BP1 and G3BP2. (Yellow: TDP-43 binding site, Red: DDX5 binding site). (b) Schematic representation of the structural domains of G3BP1, G3BP2a, and G3BP2b: RNA recognition motif, Glycine rich domain (intrinsically disordered domain 1) nuclear transport factor 2 (NTF2) -like domain PxxP (intrinsically disordered domain 2), and RGG (Arginine, Glycine rich domain, intrinsically disordered domain 3). G3BP1 post-translational modification sites that are known are shown in bold (blue: phosphorylation; red: methylation). The locations that aligned with the changed G3BP1 amino acids are shown after the three proteins were aligned. Sites that are not preserved are marked with an underline.

3.2 G3BP and SGs

SGs are the cellular stress response's downstream players. G3BP1 and G3BP2 are nucleated in SGs in various human cells under stressful circumstances (Matsuki et al., 2013). In 2003, after cellular exposure to sodium arsenite G3BP1 was shown to co-localize with HuR and TIA1 in granular structures, demonstrating for the first time that it associates with stress granules (Tourrière et al., 2003). The creation of stress granules is triggered by a wide range of external insults, but the assembly, and dynamics of the granules differ depending on the cell type and degree of stress exposure (Aulas et al., 2017). G3BP1 has consistently been demonstrated to be a component of these cytoplasmic condensates, regardless of the kind of stress. Under stressful circumstances, G3BP1 generates structures rich in polyadenylated messenger RNAs which is brought on by stress-related eIF2 phosphorylation, together with other proteins including HuR and TIA1 (Kedersha & Anderson, 2002). Importantly, the phosphorylation of eIF2 caused translation to be stopped, resulting in the presence of polyadenylated mRNA in these puncta. For stress granules, several roles have been suggested over time including: providing an opportunity during which stress can be resolved or an apoptotic program will be launched, controling local concentrations of proteins and mRNAs, and allowing rapid resumption of protein synthesis when cells recover from stress (Eiermann et al., 2020; Kedersha & Anderson, 2002; McCormick & Khaperskyy, 2017). It is reported that the total number of early SGs is correlated with G3BP1 expression, and G3BP overexpression promotes SG formation (Kawaguchi et al., 2003). In addition, G3BP1 cellular depletion causes stress granule dynamics to malfunction, resulting in smaller, more numerous granules and an increase in cell mortality under stressful circumstances (McDonald et al., 2011).

The interactions between G3BP1's three separate intrinsically disordered regions (IDRs) control how the liquid-liquid phase separation of SGs occurs (Yang et al., 2020). The development of SGs is also influenced by G3BP's acetylation, phosphorylation, and methylation. For example, G3BP1 is dephosphorylated at Ser-149 by the pseudophosphatase MK-STYX (mitogen-activated protein

kinase phosphoserine/threonine/tyrosine-binding protein), which causes the Formation of SGs (Barr et al., 2013). Furthermore, by attaching to various proteins, G3BP controls how SGs are formed. For instance, G3BP's carboxyl (C)-terminus region can trigger eIF2's phosphorylation, which in turn can trigger the formation of SGs (Taniuchi et al., 2011). Caprin also interacts with G3BP, to facilitate the production of SGs (Kedersha et al., 2016). The nucleation of SGs requires ubiquitin-associated protein 2-like (UBAP2L). It functions upstream of G3BP and encourages the development of the G3BP1 core as well as the assembly and expansion of SGs (Cirillo et al., 2020). Despite G3BP1's role in SG assembly, G3BP1 is also a significant factor in SG disassembly. Histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6) and CBP/p300 control the acetylation of G3BP1, which promotes the breakdown of SGs (Gal et al., 2019). By preventing G3BP from being translated, the testis-specific protein (melanoma-associated antigen gene B2) and DEAD-box decarboxylase 5 (DDX5) can prevent the development of SGs (Lee et al., 2020). In addition, protein arginine methyltransferase 1 (PRMT1), PRMT5, and low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 6 (LRP6) methylate G3BP1 to prevent the assembly of SGs (Ramachandran et al., 2018; Tsai et al., 2017). Mammalian ubiquitin-specific protease (USP10)'s FGDF motif also binds to G3BP, altering the way G3BP1/2 and Caprin1 interact and preventing the creation of SGs (Kedersha et al., 2016). Hence, according to all the above studies, stress granules are formed and disassembled in a manner that is closely Dependent on G3BP. Given that G3BP1 is the primary regulator of stress granules, studying it in the context of pathology may be able to shed light on the nature of the problems.

3.3 G3BP1 and G3BP2

G3BP1 and G3BP2 are paralogs that reside on different chromosomes rather than being isoforms of the same gene: While G3BP2 is located on chromosome 4, G3BP1 is found on chromosome 5. G3BP2 may be translated into 19 transcripts, three of which are responsible for the production of the isoforms G3BP2a and G3BP2b, proteins of 482 and 449 amino acids, respectively (Sidibé et al., 2021). According to DNA sequence analysis, the coding sequences of G3BP2a and G3BP2b are 60% and 55% comparable to those of G3BP1, respectively (Sidibé et al., 2021). G3BP1 and G3BP2

have frequently been investigated as a single unit. Findings from G3BP1 studies research routinely generalized to G3BP2 studies even when there is no supporting data (Sidibé et al., 2021) while both G3BP1 and G3BP2 have been heavily linked to cancer (Alam & Kennedy, 2019), work on stress granule formation and dynamics mostly concentrates on G3BP1. In addition, research on viral infection contend that viruses favor G3BP1 as a target (Zhang et al., 2019). These studies typically ignore the possibility that the activities of G3BP proteins may not entirely overlap despite the high degree of similarity among G3BP1 and G3BP2 (Sidibé et al., 2021). According to Matsuki et al., G3BP2 can also promote the creation of stress granules, while Kedersha et al., found that genetic deletion of both G3BP1 and G3BP2 is necessary to completely block the assembly of stress granules in transformed cell lines (Matsuki et al., 2013; Kedersha et al., 2016). G3BP2's phase separation characteristics, however, differ slightly from those of G3BP1 (Guillén-Boixet et al., 2020). It was shown that G3BP2 exhibits a greater tendency to phase separate with proteins and RNA compared to G3BP1 because a higher percentage of G3BP2 could form condensates with polyethylene glycol (PEG) or RNA at lower concentrations (Guillén-Boixet et al., 2020). This is due to G3BP2's intrinsically disordered sections and RNA-binding domain that are longer than those of G3BP1 (Figure 3b). Given these elements, it is likely that G3BP2 and G3BP1 play comparable roles in the generation and dynamics of stress granules (Sidibé et al., 2021).

3.4 Transcriptional regulation of G3BP1

Only a few studies have looked at how *G3BP1* mRNA is regulated. By binding to the 5'UTR (untranslated region) of G3BP1, Y-box binding protein 1 (YB-1), a highly conserved member of the cold shock protein family, controls translation (Somasekharan et al., 2020). Additionally controlling *G3BP1* transcripts, MAGE-B2 and DDX5 engage in antagonistic competition. While the Dead-box RNA helicase DDX5 (or p68) binds to the 5'UTR of G3BP1 to enhance translation, MAGE-B2, a member protein of the melanoma antigen family (MAGE), binds to the 5'UTR of G3BP1 to inhibit translation (Lee et al., 2020). Only the short G3BP1 transcript has the DDX5/MAGE-B2 binding site, suggesting differential regulation of transcripts. G3BP1 is also regulated by TDP-43.

3.4.1 Transcriptional regulation of G3BP1 by TDP-43

G3BP1 protein and transcript levels drop in response to TDP-43 knockdown (McDonald et al., 2011). In a recent study, it was indicated that TDP-43 stabilizes only the short *G3BP1* transcript through a UG-rich regulatory region in the 3'UTR while not affecting the long G3BP1 transcript (Sidibé et al., 2021). Additionally, this research showed that ALS/FTD neurons with TDP-43 inclusions and concurrent nuclear depletion had low levels of G3BP1 mRNA (Sidibé et al., 2021). It is yet to be proven whether this holds true in other conditions with TDP-43 pathology.

4. Rational to the project

A growing number of RNA-binding Proteins (RBPs) have been related to myopathies and motor neuron disorders in a stream of genetic investigations. For instance, RBP gene mutations have been linked to disorders like spinocerebellar atrophy and spinomuscular atrophy for more than 20 years (Lefebvre et al., 1995). After TDP43 was identified as the main pathogenic protein aggregate that accumulates in ALS and certain FTDs, interest turned to RBP aggregation pathways (Lefebvre et al., 1995). Other RBP genes with ALS-linked mutations, such as FUS were discovered shortly after TDP43 was identified as the main pathogenic protein in ALS (Kwiatkowski et al., 2009; Vance et al., 2009). These findings supported the emerging theory that RBP biology might contribute to neurodegenerative disorders (Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). The discoveries that TDP43 and FUS lead to the formation of SGs, that disease-linked mutations in the genes encoding these RBPs cause an increased accumulation of SGs in cells under stress, and that the aberrant accumulation of these proteins in the human brain co-localizes with SG markers represent one view on our understanding of the mechanisms underlying diseases exhibiting TDP43 and ALS pathology (Dormann & Haass, 2011; Liu-Yesucevitz et al., 2010). A definitive proof-of-concept, however, will only come from research showing that targeted inhibition of the SG pathway stops disease development in animal models. Another view which concentrates on TDP-43 loss of function leading to stress granule dysfunction as a contributor to stress granules has also gained attention. According to the first view SGs act as a crucible for triggering pathogenic protein aggregation and this was developed as a result of linking the SG pathway to neurodegenerative

diseases (Liu-Yesucevitz et al., 2010). Since the coalescence of RBPs into SGs draws aggregationprone proteins together into local domains that concentrate RBPs 100–400-fold, this route was suggested to be susceptible to disorders of aggregation (Maharana et al., 2018). At the moment, RBP biological models are the main focus of research on SGs and neurodegenerative pathologies. RBPs direct the translation, transport, and destruction of intracellular RNA, which controls and regulates the production of proteins. Due to this theory that stress granule formation results in persistent granules that change from a liquid phase to a solid structure and may serve as seeds for the TDP-43 inclusions seen in patients with ALS, stress granules have drawn more attention in this disease (Jeon & Lee, 2021; Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). This is supported by the findings that many RBPs have been noted to aggregate in ALS post-mortem tissue which localize to stress granules in certain in vitro situations (Bakkar et al., 2018; Liu-Yesucevitz et al., 2010; Vu et al., 2021). Liu et al., demonstrated that TDP-43 disease-linked mutations enhanced the production of TDP-43 inclusions in response to stressful stimuli. In this study, they discovered that therapy with translational inhibitors that prevent or reverse SG formation can reduce inclusion development caused by WT or mutant TDP-43. Finally, they showed that TDP-43 positive inclusions co-localize with a number of stress granule protein markers, including TIA-1 and eIF3, in pathological CNS tissue. However, TDP-43 inclusions in ALS/FTD patients were not found to contain mRNA, an obligate component of stress granules (Mann et al., 2019). TDP-43 aggregates and stress granules appear to develop independently, according to investigations in cell models (Aulas et al., 2012; Mann et al., 2019). Therefore, another theory is that defective stress granule production may enhance neuronal susceptibility in the context of disease. In vitro data from cells exposed to sodium arsenite show that TDP-43 knockdown with a silencing RNA result in sub-optimal stress granule development, with granules having smaller size (Aulas et al., 2012; McDonald et al., 2011). The production of stress granules is likewise defective in patient fibroblasts carrying the TDP-43^{A382T} mutation and neural cells expressing solely cytoplasmic TDP-43 (TDP-43 ^{ΔNLS}) in response to arsenite (Besnard-Guérin, 2020; Orrù et al., 2016). Additionally, it has been demonstrated that primary mouse motor neurons or motor neurons generated from ESCs with the TDP-43^{M337V} mutation exhibit impaired stress granule assembly (Gordon et al., 2019). Depletion of nuclear TDP-43 is linked to the loss of G3BP1, a key stress granule protein, which

might be one explanation for these reported deficiencies in stress granule formation (Sidibé et al., 2021). Together, these results show that TDP-43 represents loss of function with regard to stress granule formation.

A vast range of post-translational modifications, microtubule networks, and protein remodeling complexes control how briefly SGs exist under particular stress situations. One important strategy for managing cell fate or treating disease may be to regulate SG assembly or disassembly. Therefore, targeting SG proteins in relevant disorders is a promising avenue for the development of possible treatment methods. Currently, a variety of compounds have been shown to have an impact on how SGs are maintained, assembled, and disassembled via various mechanisms. SGs have been targeted by blocking and sequestering signaling molecules including TRAF2 (NF- κb. signaling), RACK1 (p38/JNK signaling), RhoA/ROCK1 (Wnt signaling), and Raptor (mTOR signaling) (Cao et al., 2020; McCormick & Khaperskyy, 2017; Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). Many small-molecule inhibitors, such as those aiming for the eIF4 pathway, which involves mTOR, the eIF2α pathway, which includes the PERK and PKR pathways, heat shock protein 104, valosin containing protein (VCP), importin, and transportin, are among the many known small-molecules that target SG pathways and are easily accessible (Wang et al., 2020). In models of neurodegenerative disorders, inhibitors of several of these SG pathway inhibitors have already demonstrated neuroprotection (Wang et al., 2020). Additionally, increasing stress granule disassembly by targeting the VCP/FAF2 axis may help in the removal of persistent stress granules: nonetheless, Gwon et al. have noted that this process may be highly context-specific, which may limit its therapeutic application (Gwon et al., 2021). Numerous groups have investigated the PERK pathway in various contexts (Smith & Mallucci, 2016). In transgenic mice models where the disease is triggered by the production of mutant TDP43 or tau, or transmission of the prion protein, inhibiting the PERK pathway slows disease development (Kim et al., 2014; Radford et al., 2015). According to research on TDP43 and the prion protein, PERK inhibition decreases eIF2 phosphorylation, which suggests that it has an impact on the translational regulation and SG pathway (Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). However, PERK inhibition has pleiotropic effects that control the endoplasmic reticulum's chaperone pathways, raising the likelihood that the advantages of PERK inhibition result from mechanisms other than the SG pathway (Wolozin & Ivanov, 2019). In a model of AD based on the overproduction of $A\beta$,

inhibition of GCN2, a different kinase that controls eIF2α, also offered neuroprotection (Ma et al., 2013). Another neuroprotective agent, rapamycin, is likely to block an SG route mediated by eIF4 since it suppresses mTOR (Jackson et al., 2010). Various animal models of neurodegeneration, including those caused by tau or TDP43, have successfully been treated with rapamycin (Khurana et al., 2006; Wang et al., 2012). The development of SGs, including TDP43-positive granules, in cells is inhibited by inhibitors of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors that disrupt the SG response (Moujalled et al., 2015). Lastly, high-throughput drug screening can be used for better understanding of SGs. Motor neuron-differentiated induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) may now be employed for pharmacological screens targeting TDP43, FUS, or hnRNPA2B1 (Martinez et al., 2016).

Assessment in a neuronal context and using in vivo paradigms will be necessary to determine the true impact of stress granule dynamics on neurodegenerative disease, whether as a participant in disease initiation or progression or impairments in their assembly or disassembly (Dubinski & Vande Velde, 2021). TDP-43 simultaneously loses its nuclear localization in conjunction with this cytoplasmic localization. Splicing, transcription, miRNA and lncRNA processing, and RNA stability maintenance are only a few of the mRNA-related tasks that TDP-43 carries out in the nucleus (Prasad et al., 2019). Nuclear depletion causes TDP-43 to stop performing these activities. One of the most significant impacts of TDP-43 depletion is its effects on G3BP1. Recent research has shown that TDP-43 stabilizes G3BP1-encoding mRNA and that G3BP1 mRNA is reduced in ALS/FTD patient neurons exhibiting TDP-43 pathology (Sidibé et al., 2021). Consequently, G3BP1 may be a desirable druggable target. The disruption of stress granule dynamics caused by this TDP-43induced G3BP1 depletion can be corrected by reintroducing G3BP1 (Aulas et al., 2012). This generally points to a TDP-43 loss of function mechanism and downstream impairment of stress granule production (Sidibé et al., 2021). It should follow that methods to support their survival should be a cellular priority if one takes into account that motor neurons are terminally differentiated cells (Sidibé et al., 2021). Normalizing this process would be a possible therapy due to the known function of stress granules to support cell survival (Sidibé et al., 2021).

Trans-acting factors (miRNAs and RNA binding proteins) specifically target cis-acting elements (sequence-specific control elements) to modulate mRNA stability (Moore, 2005). It was demonstrated that the cis-acting regulatory sequence motifs found in mRNAs may be used by small molecules to control the translation and stability of mRNA (Kastelic et al., 1996; Mak et al., 2007). These studies suggest RNA as a target for therapeutic intervention. The ability of small compounds to directly attach to RNA has been demonstrated by several studies (Warner et al., 2018; Childs-Disney & Disney, 2016). Based on these discoveries, Novation (a pharmaceutical company) has created a platform-technology to uncover new small molecules that can influence gene expression. This novel small technology has now been applied to G3BP1 and is based on work in our lab. In human neuronal-like cells, a variety of chemicals that upregulate G3BP1 mRNA and protein levels when TDP-43 is suppressed is identified by screening using different drug-like compounds from libraries that are available commercially. Through this screen three promising lead candidates (NPX-047, NPX-000-115, and NPX-001-280) that restore endogenous G3BP1 expression and function after TDP-43 loss of function were identified. According to the study that the regulatory element is conserved in C. elegans and gtbp-1 mRNA, the worm orthologue of G3BP1, has lower levels in tdp-1-/- (ok803) (Sidibé et al., 2021), this model was used in order to investigate the lead candidates at the organismal level. These compounds rescued G3BP1 expression as well as age-related paralysis in TDP-43 (tdp-1) knockout worms. Also, all of these compounds depicted low EC₅₀ in SH-SY5Y cells as well as high brain permeability according to Novation.

5. Hypothesis and objective

Recently, it was indicated that TDP-43 stabilizes and directly binds one of the two transcripts that code for G3BP1 by way of a highly conserved, UG-rich regulatory region in the 3'UTR (Sidibé et al., 2021). Additionally, it was indicated that there is a strong connection TDP-43 pathology and the loss of *G3BP1* transcripts in ALS/FTD (Sidibé et al., 2021). Our hypothesis is that restoring

physiological G3BP1 expression will enhance neuronal survival by restoring the endogenous stress granule mechanism, resulting in a positive therapeutic impact for ALS/FTD patients. We hypothesize that restoration of physiological G3BP1 expression by governing mRNA stability within the G3BP1 transcript will protect neuronal survival in challenging circumstances. In the end, this will have a positive therapeutic impact on ALS patients. Therefore, as a potential ALS therapy, our therapeutic approach and objective is to identify and functionally verify small molecular weight compounds that increase G3BP1 expression as screened by novation, restore the stress granule response, and sustain neuronal health. We also aim for finding structural analogs of potential compounds to optimize restoration of G3BP1 expression and function.

Chapter 2- materials and methods

Cell culture and transfection

SH-SY5Y cells were cultured in Dulbecco's high glucose modified Eagle medium/Nutrient Mixture F-12 Ham (DMEM-F12, ThermoFisher Scientific) supplemented with 10% FBS (Corning), 2 mM Lglutamine and 1% MEM non-essential amino acids (ThermoFisher Scientific). Cells were collected 48h or 72 h after transfection with 125 pmol Stealth siRNA using Lipofectamine[®] 2000 (Invitrogen). Sequences of si-RNAs were: TDP-43 (siTDP-43): 5' AAGCAAAGCCAAGAUGAGCCUUUGA-3'; Control (siCTL): #12935-200 (Invitrogen).

Cell lines qRT-PCR

Using RNAeasy Minikit (Qiagen) RNA was extracted and treated with DNAse I (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Using the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription kit (Qiagen), 500ng of RNA were used for reverse transcribtion. The QuantStudio 7 Flex Real-Time PCR System (Life Technologies) was used for qPCR. PrimeTime Standard qPCR assays (IDT) were: *TARDBP*: Hs.PT.58.26912658; *G3BP1* total (targeting exon 6 and 7) Hs.PT.58.20396264; *GAPDH* (targeting exon 1-2) Hs.PT.39a.22214836; *G3BP1* long forward: 5'-TCTTACTGGACACTCAACCTTG-3'; *G3BP1* long reverse: 5'-TGCCATAACTTTTGTGACTTCATG-3'; *18S:* Hs.PT.39a.22214856. g. Data was analyzed using the 2-ΔΔCt method. The genes of interest were normalized to the geometric mean of two housekeeping genes (*GAPDH* and *18S*).

Cellular viability

400000 of SH-SY5Y cells were incubated at 37°C for 48 or 72 hours and treated with the compounds from Novation and then were stained with trypan blue (Multicell) and were counted immediately using a hemocytometer.

Animals

The use of animals and all procedures were performed according to guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care and were approved by the CRCHUM animal care committee (CIPA). The non-transgenic group of mice were a combination of non-transgenic littermates from TDP-43^{M337V} and B6/N mice (Charles River). Mice of both sexes were used in this study at 4 and 18 months of ages.

Mice qRT-PCR

Spinal cords from previously stored tissues at -80°C were used. RNA was extracted using TRIzol[®] (Invitrogen) and chloroform (Fisher Scientific). RT was performed with QIAGEN kit. PrimeTime Standard qPCR assays (IDT) were: *hTARDBP*: Hs.PT.58.26912658; *mTARDBP*: Mm.PT.58.30210473; G*3BP2*: Mm.PT.58.9030133. *G3BP1* total Mm.PT.58.6655287; *G3BP1* long forward: 5'-TGTAATCGAGGCTGgTTTTGG-3'; *G3BP1* long reverse: 5'-TGGCGAATGTTTTAGTCCTGG-3'; *RpIp0*: Mm.PT.58.43894205; *Actin*: Mm.PT. 39a.22214843.g

Statistics

Data were graphed and analyzed using Prism version 9.00 (GraphPad Software). Data were compared via two-way ANOVA with statistical significance at p<0.05.

Chapter 3- Results

3.1 Cell viability assay using different doses of compounds

In order to assess the toxicity of the compounds, Trypan blue test of cell viability was performed. This test determines the number of viable cells based on the fact that live cells exclude Trypan blue because of their intact membrane, however dead cells do not. In this method, the dead cells will have a blue cytoplasm whereas the alive cells will contain a clear cytoplasm. After seeding 400,000 SH-SY5Y cells, the next day the cells were transfected with either si-CTL or si-TDP. 5h later, compounds were given to the cells. For the next 48h, cells were treated with the compounds at 20uM every 24h. On day 5 the cells were harvested. This is called the 72h protocol (Fig.4A). DMSO, NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 all caused toxicity less than 20% however this was around 60% for NPX-047 (Fig.4B). Next, to reduce the exposure time of cells to the compounds a 48h protocol where cells were harvested on day 4 instead of day 5 was used. DMSO, NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 all indicated less than 20% cell death. Whereas this was ~45% for NPX-047 (Fig.4C). Next, various concentrations of NPX-047 for toxicity were tested. Less than 20% of toxicity for all the concentrations except for 20uM was observed (Fig.4D). Then, Because of the low toxicity observed with the compounds NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115, the concentration of these compounds was increased to 40uM and the experiments were performed according to 48h protocol. NPX 000-280 showed slightly higher than 20% toxicity while NPX 000-115 indicated about 36% toxicity (Fig.4E). Old batches and new batches of the compounds were tested to investigate whether there was any difference in terms of toxicity. In addition, the effects of the compounds on cell toxicity without si-treatment was investigated. In this experiment, on day 1 400,000 cells were seeded. For the next 48h cells were treated with the old and new batches of the compounds every 24h. For NPX-047 only new batch was available. All the compounds were used at 20uM. No significant differences were detected between old and new batches of the compounds (Fig.4F). NPX-047 indicated less toxicity without si-treatment.



Figure 4. – Cell viability assay using different concentrations of the compounds. (A) Schematic figure for 72h protocol. (B) SH-SY5Y cells were seeded on day 1, the next day they were treated with either si-CTL or si-TDP. After 5 hours of transfection the compounds were given to cells. The next 48h they cells were treated with the compounds every 24h. On day 5 cells were harvested. All the compounds had 20uM concentration. N=1 (C) SH-SY5Y cells were seeded on day 1, the next day they were treated with either si-CTL or si-TDP. After 5 hours of transfection the compounds were given to the cells. After 24h, the compounds cells

were treated with the compounds following half-media change. After 24h, cells were harvested and cell viability was measured (48h protocol). 20uM of all compounds was used. N=1 (D) SH-SY5Y cells were transfected and treated with DMSO, NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 according to the 48h protocol. The concentration of the compounds was 40uM. N=1. (E) Cells were treated with DMSO or different concentrations of NPX-047 after si-CTL or si-TDP treatment according to the 72h protocol. N=1. (F) SH-SY5Y cells were seeded on day one, the next two days they were treated with old and new batches of DMSO, NPX 000-280, NPX 000-115 and new batch of NPX-047. All the compounds were used at 20uM. On day fourth cells were harvested and cell viability was assessed using Trypan blue. N=1

3.2 NPX 000-280 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM

The compounds were able to increase G3BP1 luciferase levels in luciferase assay as reported by Novation; however, this does not indicate endogenous levels of *G3BP1* mRNA. In our experiments it is necessary to indicate the impact of the compounds on endogenous *G3BP1* levels to confirm our hypothesis. Thus, the effect of NPX 000-280 at 20uM on *G3BP1* mRNA levels was assessed. According to cell viability results, 20uM was an appropriate concentration for our experiments. First, whether there was a suitable knockdown of *TDP-43* and that NPX 000-280 had any effect on TDP-43 was investigated. Around 70% knock down of *TDP-43* following si-TDP treatment was observed. Also, no effect of NPX 000-280 on *TDP-43* mRNA levels was detected (Fig.5A). Then, the *G3BP1* mRNA levels following si-treatment was assessed to investigate whether NPX 000-280 can rescue the *G3BP1* mRNA levels. There was no rescue of *G3BP1* levels (Fig 5B). NPX 000-280 had also no effect on *Long G3BP1* mRNA levels (Fig 5C). Next, the 72h protocol was used to assess *G3BP1* mRNA following treatment with NPX 000-280. Again, we about 80% of *TDP-43* knock down was detected (n=1) (Fig.5D) however, there was no rescue of *G3BP1* mRNA levels (n=1) (Fig.5E). In addition, no effect on long *G3BP1* mRNA was detected, as expected (n=1) (Fig.5F).



Figure 5. – NPX 000-280 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM.

Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) G3BP1 and (C) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO and NPX 000-280 according to 48h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 3 independent experiments after normalization to GAPDH and 18S. Statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA with ****p <0.001, **p <0.01, ns=not significant. Relative mRNA expression levels of (D) TARDBP, (E) G3BP1 and (F) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by

treating with DMSO and NPX 000-280 according to 72h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 1 experiment after normalization to GAPDH and 18s.

3.3 NPX 000-115 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM

As Novation implicated that NPX 000-115 was able to increase G3BP1 luciferase signals, it was important to assess this compound's effect on G3BP1 mRNA levels in our SH-SY5Y cells to assess our hypothesis. Based on the cell viability findings, 20uM was a suitable concentration for this compound for our experiments. Same as NPX 000-280, NPX 000-115 had no influence on *TDP-43* and approximately a 70% reduction in TDP-43 levels after si-TDP treatment was detected. (Fig. 6A). Subsequently, when G3BP1 mRNA levels were quantified following si-treatment to explore the potential of NPX 000-115 in rescuing G3BP1 levels, no restoration of G3BP1 levels was observed. (Fig. 6B). Furthermore, NPX 000-115 exhibited no impact on Long G3BP1 mRNA levels, as anticipated (Fig. 6C). In our continued investigation using the 72-hour protocol again an approximately 80% reduction in TDP-43 levels was observed following si-treatment (n=1) (Fig. 6D). Nevertheless, there was no evidence of G3BP1 mRNA level rescue (n=1) (Fig. 6E), and as expected, no effect on Long G3BP1 mRNA was detected (n=1) (Fig. 6F).



Figure 6. – NPX 000-115 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM.

Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) G3BP1 and (C) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO and NPX 000-115 according to 48h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 3 independent experiments after normalization to GAPDH and 18S. Statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA with ****p <0.001, **p <0.01, ns=not significant. Relative mRNA expression levels of (D) TARDBP, (E) G3BP1 and (F) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by

treating with DMSO and NPX 000-115 according to 72h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 1 experiment after normalization to GAPDH and 18s.

3.4 NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 do not rescue G3BP1 mRNA levels at 40uM

Since our earlier observation that 20uM failed to restore G3BP1 mRNA levels following a 48h and 72h protocol, the impact of NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115, both administered at a concentration of 40uM with the aim of rescuing *G3BP1* mRNA levels was investigated subsequently. Initially, the efficacy of TDP-43 knockdown was assessed and remarkably, an approximate 70% reduction in TDP-43 levels following si-TDP treatment was observed (Fig. 7A and 7E) and no discernible effect of either of the two compounds on TDP-43 mRNA levels was detected (Fig. 7A and 7D). Next, our findings revealed no restoration of G3BP1 levels (Fig. 7B and 7E) and exhibited no impact on Long G3BP1 mRNA levels (Fig. 7C and 7F).



Figure 7. – NPX000-280 and NPX 000-115 have no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1

transcripts at 40uM. Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) G3BP1 and (C) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO and NPX 000-*280* according to 48h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = *2* independent experiments after normalization to GAPDH and 18S. Statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA with ****p <0.001, **p <0.01, ns=not significant. Relative mRNA expression levels of (D) TARDBP, (E) G3BP1 and (F) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO and NPX 000-115 according to *48*h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = *2* experiments after normalization to GAPDH and 18s.

3.5 NPX-047 at 15 and 10uM do not rescue G3BP1 mRNA levels

According to Novation, NPX-047 was able to increase G3BP1 luciferase signals at 10 uM and because based on the cell viability results, it was determined that 10 uM and 15 uM were suitable for our experiments, these concentrations were chosen to proceed. As previous experiments, knock down efficiency was first assessed which was around 70% (Fig. 8A). Furthermore, no impact of NPX-047 on *TDP-43* mRNA levels was detected (Fig. 8B). Moving forward, *G3BP1* mRNA levels indicated no recue (Fig. 8B). Additionally, NPX-047 showed no effect on *Long G3BP1* mRNA levels (Fig. 8C). Next, a 72-hour protocol to assess *G3BP1* mRNA levels following NPX-047 treatment was tested. Once again, an approximately 80% reduction in *TDP-43* levels (n=1) (Fig. 8D) and no recue of *G3BP1* mRNA levels was detected (n=1) (Fig. 8E). In addition, as expected, no impact on *Long G3BP1* mRNA was observed (n=1) (Fig. 8F).



Figure 8. – NPX-047 has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 15uM and

10uM. Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) G3BP1 and (C) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO and NPX-047 according to 48h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 2 independent experiments after normalization to GAPDH and 18S. Relative mRNA expression levels of (D) TARDBP, (E) G3BP1 and (F) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO and NPX-047 according to 72h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 1 experiment after normalization to GAPDH and 18S.

3.6 Edaravone did not have any effect on G3BP1 mRNA levels at 20uM

According to our previous results in worms, Edaravone at 20uM could serve as a positive control because it enhanced *G3BP1* mRNA levels in tdp-l-. Hence, the effect of Edaravone as a positive control at 20uM on *G3BP1* mRNA levels in our SH-SY5Y cells was determined. First, around 70% knock down of *TDP-43* following si-TDP treatment was detected. There was also not any effect of Edaravone on *TDP-43* mRNA levels. N=1(Fig.9A). Then, the *G3BP1* mRNA levels was investigated following si-treatment and no rescue of *G3BP1* levels was observed N=1(Fig 9B). Edaravone had also no effect on *Long G3BP1* mRNA levels N=1 (Fig 9C).



Figure 9. – **Edaravone has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts at 20uM.** Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) G3BP1 and (C) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO and Edaravone according to 72h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 1 experiment after normalization to GAPDH and 18S.

3.7 Edaravone at 20nm and various doses of NPX-047 at nM concentration do not rescue G3BP1 levels

Since some drugs like some antidepressants show a bell-shaped dose response curve, meaning that enhancing dose leads to more efficiency but only up to a certain point whereas further increasing of the drug concentration leads to less efficiency. Hence, the effects of the compounds at various nM concentrations were tested. A70% knock down of *TDP-43* following si-TDP treatment was detected about 70% and no effect of the compounds on *TDP-43* mRNA levels was observed N=1 (Fig.10A). Additionally, *G3BP1* mRNA levels indicated no rescue (Fig.10B) and no change of on *Long G3BP1* mRNA levels was detected (Fig.10C).



Figure 10. – NPX-047 and Edaravone has no effect on total G3BP1 and long G3BP1 transcripts

at different nM concentrations. Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) G3BP1 and (C) Long G3BP1 in SHSY5Y cells transfected with si-CTL and si-TDP followed by treating with DMSO, NPX-047 and Edaravone according to 72h protocol. Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 1 independent experiments after normalization to GAPDH and 18S.

3.8 TARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels do not change in 4 months old TDP-43 M337V mice.

Considering for a future strategy involving one of the primary compounds for ALS therapy, our subsequent objective was to assess these compounds *in vivo*. Initially the levels of mouse *TARDBP* and *human TARDBP (hTARDBP)* mRNA in 4-month-old TDP-43 ^{M337V} mice was assessed using real-time qPCR. Notany significant change in *TARDBP* mRNA levels in TDP-43 homo (homozygotes) versus non transgenic mice was detected however, the level of *hTARDBP* was significant in homo mice (Fig 11A and 11B). Next, *G3BP1* mRNA levels were assessed. No change between TDP-43 ^{M337V} homo and NTg mice was observed (Fig.11C). Furthermore, *long G3BP1* mRNA levels were insignificant between TDP-43 ^{M337V} homo and NTg mice (Fig.11D). G3BP2 is similar to G3BP1 in structure and function. Thus, levels of *G3BP2* as also investigated and no significant changes were observed between 4 months old TDP-43 ^{M337V} mice and their NTg counterparts (Fig.11E).



Figure 11. – TARDBP, hTARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels in 4months old TDP-43 ^{M337V} **mice.** Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) hTARDBP, (C) G3BP1, (D) Long G3BP1 and (E) G3BP2 in 4 months old NTg and homo TDP-43 ^{M337V} mice Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 3 per group after normalization to Rplp0 and Actin. Statistical analysis using unpaired t-test with ****p <0.001, ns=not significant. NTg= non transgenic. Homo=homozygotes.

3.9 TARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels do not change in 18 months old TDP-43 M337V mice.

We have shown previously that stress granule response in mice worsens with age (Dubinski et al., 2023). As a result, the mRNA levels of *G3BP1 and G3BP2* were investigated to see the effects of age on their expression *in vivo*. Initially, the *TARDBP* mRNA levels in NTg, homo and het(heterozygote) group was assessed and no significant changes of *TARDBP* mRNA was detected among these groups (Fig.12A). Next, no significant changes were observed in the *G3BP1*, *long G3BP1* and *G3BP2* mRNA levels among NTg, homo and het groups however a tendency towards lower levels of these mRNAs was indicated in homo group (Fig.12B, 12C and 12D).



Figure 12. – TARDBP, G3BP1, Long G3BP1 and G3BP2 mRNA levels in 18 months old TDP-43 M337V mice. Relative mRNA expression levels of (A) TARDBP, (B) hTARDBP, (C) Long G3BP1 and (D) G3BP2 in 18 months old NTg, het and homo TDP-43 ^{M337V} mice Data are shown as mean +s.d. of n = 3-4 per group after normalization to Rplp0 and Actin. Statistical analysis using one-way ANOVA. ns=not significant. NTg= non transgenic. Homo=homozygotes.

Chapter 4- Discussion

Based on our hypothesis, Novation's compounds were tested on SH-SY5Y cells. First, the toxicity of these compounds was assessed using Trypan blue assay. When cells were treated for 72h with 20 µM of the compounds, NPX 000-047 caused around 60% toxicity while the other two compounds had low toxicity even compared to DMSO. A 72h protocol was an established protocol due to previous similar experiments in our lab. 20 µM was the preferred dose (except for NPX 000-047) according to Novation's screening of the compounds. Less than 20% of toxicity is optimal for these experiments, thus in order to reduce the toxicity, the 72h protocol was replaced by the 48h protocol. With the 48h protocol, the toxicity of the compound NPX 000-047 was reduced to around 40%; therefore, lower doses of NPX-047 had to be used for further experiments. Next, NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 were used at 40 μ M according to the 48h protocol. This experiment was necessary to validate the maximum concentration of the compounds to be used. This experiment was conducted based on the 48h protocol to limit toxicity. At 40 µM NPX 000-280 indicated around 20% while around 36% of toxicity was observed with NPX 000-115, which indicated quite toxicity. For NPX 000-047 different concentrations were assessed and less than 20% toxicity was detected with all of the concentrations except for 20 μ M. Since different batches of the compounds were present, the level of toxicity among them without si-treatment had to be compared. There was not a significant difference between old batches and new batches in terms of toxicity however new batches slightly indicated less toxicity. As a result, new batches were used for further experiments, also previous experiments were conducted using new batches. Next, NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 were used at 20 μM based on the 48h protocol. 20 μM concentration was selected for these experiments since higher levels of these compounds caused more than 20% toxicity. Despite lower levels of G3BP1 levels due to TDP-43 knockdown, no rescue of G3BP1 mRNA levels was observed when compounds were given to the cells. This was quite surprising as these compounds were screened before by Novation to rescue G3BP1 mRNA levels. Although NPX 000-280 and NPX 000-115 at 40 μ M were quite toxic to the cells, their effect on the rescue of G3BP1 was tested. This was due to the fact that 20 μ M of the compounds did not rescue G3BP1 mRNA levels. No rescue of G3BP1 mRNA was observed. Also, the levels of long G3BP1 did not change however this was expected. Additionally, NPX 000-047 was tested at 10 and 15 μ M. These experiments were conducted according to 48h protocol. 10 and 15 μ M concentrations were chosen according to cell viability results. Surprisingly, both concentrations did not rescue *G3BP1* mRNA levels. No effect on *long G3BP1* was also observed. Nevertheless, the same experiments were conducted according to 72h and the results remained the same with no rescue of *G3BP1* mRNA levels. In previous experiments on worms, Edaravone indicated a rise in *G3BP1* mRNA levels; therefore, it was used as a positive control in the next experiments however, interestingly, no upregulation of G3BP1 was demonstrated in SH-SY5Y cells at 20 μ M. Then, since many drugs like antidepressants have a bell curve response (Terao et al., 2020), it was speculated the optimum dose for the functions of these compounds might be at much lower concentrations, such as nM. Furthermore, since most of these compounds were used at 20uM on worms, we speculated that concentrations at nM may be more appropriate on cells due to the fact that cells cannot metabolize drugs as organisms, such as worms. However when Edaravone at 20nM, and NPX 000-047 at various nM concentrations were tested, no effect on *G3BP1* mRNA levels was detected.

Despite our results, in terms of G3BP1 mRNA levels when using the compounds at 20µM, Novation reported that they observed a higher luciferase level of *G3BP1* when using NPX 000-280, NPX 000-115 at 20µM and NPX 000-047 at lower concentrations than 20µM. These discrepancies between Novation and our experiments might be because of the following reasons, first of all, Novation's results were based on luciferase assay which measures transfected gene expression and not endogenous *G3BP1*, thus these experiments have to be repeated by Novation assessing endogenous *G3BP1*. Second, Novation's protocol for treating cells with the compound was different. They treated SH-SY5Y cells with si-TDP for 48h, then compounds were added only once and 48h later luciferase assay was performed whereas in our experiments cells were treated with si-RNAs for 5 hours, then media with the compounds were added to the cells. Depending on whether a 48h protocol or 72h protocol was used, cells were treated with the compounds for another 24 or 48h, respectively. Another contributing factor to the different results could be the different sources of cells, media, and FBS used. Novation used MEM/EBSS: F12 in a 1:1 ratio while we used DMEM F12 in a 1:1 ratio with sodium bicarbonate. After precise examination of the components of these media, more than a 3-fold difference was noted in glycine, serine,

niacinamide, pyridoxal HCL, pyridoxine HCL, and riboflavin however we do not speculate the difference in these components of the media contributed significantly to the different results. Despite this, the difference in FBS used may contribute to different results. While FBS is essential for cell cultures, small molecules within FBS are poorly understood and how they affect cultured cells are yet unknown. To increase the reproducibility of experimental results in scientific articles, metabolites in FBS should be taken into account when performing cell studies (Liu et al., 2023). Different FBS were used in our experiments versus those performed by Novation; therefore, this might play a role in the observed opposite results and needs to be further investigated.

A compound's ability to be developed and ultimately the dose and route of delivery depend on how efficiently it is absorbed, distributed, and metabolized. Therefore, it is crucial to assess the characteristics of compounds when exposed to an organism. In an attempt to select an appropriate model for this purpose, we examined the TDP-43^{M337V} transgenic mice. These mice express the full-length mutant human TDP-43. In these transgenic a single copy BAC construct that contains human TDP-43, either with an ALS-associated TDP-43 mutation (M337V) or wildtype (Edupuganti et al.) has been inserted into the mouse Rosa26 (Gt (ROSA26) Sor locus. Despite human TDP-43^{WT}, expression of TDP-43^{M337V} causes motor dysfunction and loss of neuromuscular integrity from 6 months, and reduced survival. In our prior research, it was discovered that homo hTDP-43^{M337V} transgenic mice at 4 months of age have lower amounts of G3BP1 protein than NTg animals (Dubinski et al., 2023). As a precursor to evaluating our compounds in mice, first assess the levels of G3BP1 mRNA in this model was investigated. Surprisingly, no reduction of G3BP1 mRNA levels was detected in these mice despite the reduction in G3BP1 protein that was recently reported in our lab in these mice. Reduced protein levels with steady mRNA levels observed can indicate different matters. One is that a ribosomal malfunction, or a defect in the translation of mRNA to protein, might be indicated by a decreased protein level. This could be one explanation for these results according to the fact that one of the functions of TDP-43 is ribosome stabilization. However, it may also indicate that the protein is degrading more quickly due to an accelerated turnover rate. Another explanation is that there may be a problem with the protein's posttranslational modifications, if any, which may render it less stable.

G3BP1 and its paralog G3BP2 have been often investigated as a single protein despite the lack of supporting data (H. Sidibé et al., 2021). These studies typically ignore the possibility that, despite the great degree of similarity between the proteins, the activities of G3BP proteins may not entirely overlap. For example, G3BP2's phase separation characteristics differ slightly from those of G3BP1's (Guillén-Boixet et al., 2020). It was shown that G3BP2 exhibits a greater tendency to phase separate with proteins and RNA than G3BP1 because a higher percentage of G3BP2 could form condensates with RNA at lower concentrations (Guillén-Boixet et al., 2020). Also, Depletion of G3BP1 in the axon results in the loss of these structures which cannot be compensated by G3BP2. (Sahoo et al., 2018). Furthermore, G3BP1 specifically binds TARDBP mRNA and G3BP2 specifically binds HNRNPA1 mRNA; both of these genes have been associated with ALS and FTD (Edupuganti et al., 2017). The differences between the mRNAs that G3BP1 and G3BP2 regulate are probably crucial for identifying the specific roles that each protein plays (H. Sidibé et al., 2021). These observations support the notion that functions of G3BP1 and G3BP2 could be different in various contexts despite their similarity (H. Sidibé et al., 2021). Due to this matter, levels of G3BP2 were also assessed in 4 months old homo TDP-43_{M337V} mice and no change was observed in G3BP2 mRNA levels. Next, since aging is the main risk factor for ALS and that senescent cells are unable to produce stress granules (Omer et al., 2020), hTDP-43_{M337V} transgenic mice at 18 months of age were also assessed for G3BP1, G3BP2 and long G3BP1 levels. Surprisingly, no reduction of G3BP1 was observed in het and homo hTDP-43_{M337V} transgenic mice however there was a trend towards lower levels in these mice. Interestingly, this was also true for G3BP2, and long G3BP1 mRNAs. This might suggest a different regulatory mechanism of G3BP1 in mice compared to humans which requires further investigation. Another area requiring further research is the effect of sex differences on these results. In our experiments a combination of female and male mice was used; nevertheless, future assessment is required to investigate these results in female vs. male mice.

we have identified small-molecule compounds that were able to have functional impacts at the organismal level with the potential to restore stress granule response in neuronal context although it was not confirmed with our recent results. With the goal of solving inconsistency observed between our and results of Novation and identification of a lead chemical compound,

forthcoming investigations within our laboratory will involve chemical modifications of the initial compounds to amplify their efficacy for restoring G3BP1 expression and function and mitigate toxicity. Within neuronal cells and nematodes for restoring *G3BP1* expression and function. The preliminary screening will involve utilizing a high-throughput screening (HTS) assay that targets *G3BP1* mRNA. This method was used in our initial screening. The chosen compounds will then undergo additional mRNA-targeted assays to measure their selectivity, EC50 values, and cytotoxicity within SH-SY5Y cells. Compounds that demonstrate low EC50 values will be chosen for further functional assessment within the C. elegans model. Additionally, we will investigate gtbp-1 mRNA levels through quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) to gain deeper insights into the efficacy of the compounds after TDP-43 knock down. This validation process will be carried out in SH-SY5Y cells and human induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived cortical neurons. Importantly, our project's main focus is to screen compounds that can elevate G3BP1 expression specifically to physiologically relevant levels since higher levels of G3BP1 is associated with cancer (Li et al., 2020).

Besides assessing the selectivity of these compounds through counter-screening, their influence on the transcriptome also needs to be examined. This examination is crucial not only to unveil potential off-target effects but also to explore the pleiotropic impacts in the context of ALS/FTD, where the expression of a multitude of genes that are regulated by TDP-43 is altered. In order to achieve this goal, BruChase-sequencing in SH-SY5Y cells will be used in both TDP-43-depleted and non-depleted cells, followed by treatment with the top candidate compounds. With the use of BruChase-sequencing, both nascent RNA synthesis and RNA stability can be measured. To validate our findings, qRT-PCR, incorporating +/- actinomycin D will be used to halt transcription and transcripts that display the most significant alterations in mRNA stability following treatment with lead candidates or analogs will be selected. This aim offers broader insights of the intricate effects of our candidate compounds on RNA stability. Furthermore, by analyzing control si-RNA-treated samples changes unrelated to TDP-43 will be detected and will provide valuable insights into the potential implications of these compounds for neurons characterized by normal nuclear TDP-43 levels. These upcoming aims will serve as a critical foundation for subsequent stages of this
project which includes assessing the candidate compounds in the mouse models of ALS contribute to the broader quest for innovative treatments for ALS, FTD, and related disorders.

Bibliography

- Ahmed, R. M., Devenney, E. M., Strikwerda-Brown, C., Hodges, J. R., Piguet, O. et Kiernan, M.
 C. (2019, Nov). COG-01 Phenotypic variation in EALS-FTD and effect on survival.
 Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener, 20(sup1), 301-308.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/21678421.2019.1647000
- Ahmed, R. M., Devenney, E. M., Strikwerda-Brown, C., Hodges, J. R., Piguet, O. et Kiernan, M. C. (2020, May 12). Phenotypic variability in ALS-FTD and effect on survival. *Neurology*, 94(19), e2005-e2013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.00000000009398</u>
- Al-Chalabi, A., Calvo, A., Chio, A., Colville, S., Ellis, C. M., Hardiman, O., Heverin, M., Howard, R. S., Huisman, M. H. B., Keren, N., Leigh, P. N., Mazzini, L., Mora, G., Orrell, R. W., Rooney, J., Scott, K. M., Scotton, W. J., Seelen, M., Shaw, C. E., Sidle, K. S., Swingler, R., Tsuda, M., Veldink, J. H., Visser, A. E., van den Berg, L. H. et Pearce, N. (2014, 2014/11/01/). Analysis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis as a multistep process: a population-based modelling study. *The Lancet Neurology*, *13*(11), 1108-1113. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70219-4
- Al-Chalabi, A., Fang, F., Hanby, M. F., Leigh, P. N., Shaw, C. E., Ye, W. et Rijsdijk, F. (2010, Dec). An estimate of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis heritability using twin data. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 81(12), 1324-1326. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2010.207464
- Al-Chalabi, A. et Hardiman, O. (2013, Nov). The epidemiology of ALS: a conspiracy of genes, environment and time. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 9(11), 617-628. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2013.203
- Al-Chalabi, A., Hardiman, O., Kiernan, M. C., Chiò, A., Rix-Brooks, B. et van den Berg, L. H. (2016, Oct). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: moving towards a new classification system. *Lancet Neurol*, 15(11), 1182-1194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(16)30199-5</u>
- Alam, U. et Kennedy, D. (2019a, Sep). G3BP1 and G3BP2 regulate translation of interferonstimulated genes: IFITM1, IFITM2 and IFITM3 in the cancer cell line MCF7. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 459(1-2), 189-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-019-03562-3</u>
- Alam, U. et Kennedy, D. (2019b, Mar). Rasputin a decade on and more promiscuous than ever? A review of G3BPs. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res, 1866*(3), 360-370. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.09.001</u>

- Anderson, P. et Kedersha, N. (2002, Aug 15). Stressful initiations. *J Cell Sci*, *115*(Pt 16), 3227-3234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.115.16.3227</u>
- Andrews, J. A., Jackson, C. E., Heiman-Patterson, T. D., Bettica, P., Brooks, B. R. et Pioro, E. P. (2020, Nov). Real-world evidence of riluzole effectiveness in treating amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*, 21(7-8), 509-518. https://doi.org/10.1080/21678421.2020.1771734
- Anisimov, S., Takahashi, M., Kakihana, T., Katsuragi, Y., Kitaura, H., Zhang, L., Kakita, A. et Fujii, M. (2019, 2019/09/09). G3BP1 inhibits ubiquitinated protein aggregations induced by p62 and USP10. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 12896. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-46237-1</u>
- Arai, T., Hasegawa, M., Akiyama, H., Ikeda, K., Nonaka, T., Mori, H., Mann, D., Tsuchiya, K., Yoshida, M., Hashizume, Y. et Oda, T. (2006, 2006/12/22/). TDP-43 is a component of ubiquitin-positive tau-negative inclusions in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 351(3), 602-611. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.10.093</u>
- Armon, C. et Nelson, L. M. (2012, Jun). Is head trauma a risk factor for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis? An evidence based review. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*, 13(4), 351-356. https://doi.org/10.3109/17482968.2012.660954
- Assouline, A., Levy, A., Abdelnour-Mallet, M., Gonzalez-Bermejo, J., Lenglet, T., Le Forestier, N., Salachas, F., Bruneteau, G., Meininger, V., Delanian, S. et Pradat, P. F. (2014, Mar 1). Radiation therapy for hypersalivation: a prospective study in 50 amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 88*(3), 589-595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2013.11.230
- Atlas, R., Behar, L., Elliott, E. et Ginzburg, I. (2004, May). The insulin-like growth factor mRNA binding-protein IMP-1 and the Ras-regulatory protein G3BP associate with tau mRNA and HuD protein in differentiated P19 neuronal cells. J Neurochem, 89(3), 613-626. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02371.x
- Ayala, Y. M., De Conti, L., Avendaño-Vázquez, S. E., Dhir, A., Romano, M., D'Ambrogio, A., Tollervey, J., Ule, J., Baralle, M., Buratti, E. et Baralle, F. E. (2011, Jan 19). TDP-43

regulates its mRNA levels through a negative feedback loop. *Embo j, 30*(2), 277-288. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2010.310

- Ayala, Y. M., Zago, P., D'Ambrogio, A., Xu, Y. F., Petrucelli, L., Buratti, E. et Baralle, F. E. (2008, Nov 15). Structural determinants of the cellular localization and shuttling of TDP-43. *J Cell Sci*, 121(Pt 22), 3778-3785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.038950</u>
- Balendra, R. et Isaacs, A. M. (2018, Sep). C9orf72-mediated ALS and FTD: multiple pathways to disease. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 14(9), 544-558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0047-2</u>
- Barmada, S. J., Skibinski, G., Korb, E., Rao, E. J., Wu, J. Y. et Finkbeiner, S. (2010, Jan 13). Cytoplasmic mislocalization of TDP-43 is toxic to neurons and enhanced by a mutation associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurosci, 30*(2), 639-649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.4988-09.2010</u>
- Barr, J. E., Munyikwa, M. R., Frazier, E. A. et Hinton, S. D. (2013, Jan). The pseudophosphatase MK-STYX inhibits stress granule assembly independently of Ser149 phosphorylation of G3BP-1. *Febs j, 280*(1), 273-284. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.12068
- Bercier, V., Hubbard, J. M., Fidelin, K., Duroure, K., Auer, T. O., Revenu, C., Wyart, C. et Del Bene, F. (2019, 2019/07/10). Dynactin1 depletion leads to neuromuscular synapse instability and functional abnormalities. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 14(1), 27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13024-019-0327-3</u>
- Blyufer, A., Lhamo, S., Tam, C., Tariq, I., Thavornwatanayong, T. et Mahajan, S. S. (2021, Nov). Riluzole: A neuroprotective drug with potential as a novel anti-cancer agent (Review). *Int J Oncol, 59*(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2021.5275</u>
- Boeynaems, S., Bogaert, E., Van Damme, P. et Van Den Bosch, L. (2016, Aug). Inside out: the role of nucleocytoplasmic transport in ALS and FTLD. *Acta Neuropathol*, 132(2), 159-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1586-5</u>
- Booker, G. W., Gout, I., Downing, A. K., Driscoll, P. C., Boyd, J., Waterfield, M. D. et Campbell,
 I. D. (1993, May 21). Solution structure and ligand-binding site of the SH3 domain of the
 p85 alpha subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Cell*, 73(4), 813-822.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90259-s

- Breiner, A., Zinman, L. et Bourque, P. R. (2020, Mar 23). Edaravone for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: barriers to access and lifeboat ethics. *Cmaj*, 192(12), E319-e320. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.191236
- Brettschneider, J., Del Tredici, K., Toledo, J. B., Robinson, J. L., Irwin, D. J., Grossman, M., Suh,
 E., Van Deerlin, V. M., Wood, E. M., Baek, Y., Kwong, L., Lee, E. B., Elman, L.,
 McCluskey, L., Fang, L., Feldengut, S., Ludolph, A. C., Lee, V. M., Braak, H. et
 Trojanowski, J. Q. (2013, Jul). Stages of pTDP-43 pathology in amyotrophic lateral
 sclerosis. *Ann Neurol*, 74(1), 20-38. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23937
- Brooks, B. R., Thisted, R. A., Appel, S. H., Bradley, W. G., Olney, R. K., Berg, J. E., Pope, L. E. et Smith, R. A. (2004, Oct 26). Treatment of pseudobulbar affect in ALS with dextromethorphan/quinidine: a randomized trial. *Neurology*, 63(8), 1364-1370. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000142042.50528.2f
- Brown, R. H. et Al-Chalabi, A. (2017, Jul 13). Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. N Engl J Med, 377(2), 162-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1603471</u>
- Buchan, J. R. et Parker, R. (2009, Dec 25). Eukaryotic stress granules: the ins and outs of translation. *Mol Cell*, *36*(6), 932-941. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2009.11.020</u>
- Buratti, E. et Baralle, F. E. (2001, Sep 28). Characterization and functional implications of the RNA binding properties of nuclear factor TDP-43, a novel splicing regulator of CFTR exon 9. *J Biol Chem*, 276(39), 36337-36343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M104236200</u>
- Buratti, E., De Conti, L., Stuani, C., Romano, M., Baralle, M. et Baralle, F. (2010, May). Nuclear factor TDP-43 can affect selected microRNA levels. *Febs j*, 277(10), 2268-2281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07643.x
- Burkhardt, C., Neuwirth, C., Sommacal, A., Andersen, P. M. et Weber, M. (2017). Is survival improved by the use of NIV and PEG in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)? A postmortem study of 80 ALS patients. *PLoS One*, 12(5), e0177555. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177555
- Butterfield, D. A., Abdul, H. M., Opii, W., Newman, S. F., Joshi, G., Ansari, M. A. et Sultana, R. J. J. o. n. (2006). Pin1 in Alzheimer's disease. 98(6), 1697-1706.

- Caragounis, A., Price, K. A., Soon, C. P., Filiz, G., Masters, C. L., Li, Q. X., Crouch, P. J. et White, A. R. (2010, May 1). Zinc induces depletion and aggregation of endogenous TDP-43. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 48(9), 1152-1161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.01.035</u>
- Chang, C. K., Wu, T. H., Wu, C. Y., Chiang, M. H., Toh, E. K., Hsu, Y. C., Lin, K. F., Liao, Y. H., Huang, T. H. et Huang, J. J. (2012, Aug 24). The N-terminus of TDP-43 promotes its oligomerization and enhances DNA binding affinity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 425(2), 219-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.07.071</u>
- Chiò, A., Calvo, A., Moglia, C., Mazzini, L. et Mora, G. (2011, Jul). Phenotypic heterogeneity of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population based study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 82(7), 740-746. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2010.235952</u>
- Chiò, A., Logroscino, G., Traynor, B. J., Collins, J., Simeone, J. C., Goldstein, L. A. et White, L.
 A. (2013). Global epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review of the published literature. *Neuroepidemiology*, 41(2), 118-130. https://doi.org/10.1159/000351153
- Chou, C. C., Zhang, Y., Umoh, M. E., Vaughan, S. W., Lorenzini, I., Liu, F., Sayegh, M., Donlin-Asp, P. G., Chen, Y. H., Duong, D. M., Seyfried, N. T., Powers, M. A., Kukar, T., Hales, C. M., Gearing, M., Cairns, N. J., Boylan, K. B., Dickson, D. W., Rademakers, R., Zhang, Y. J., Petrucelli, L., Sattler, R., Zarnescu, D. C., Glass, J. D. et Rossoll, W. (2018, Feb). TDP-43 pathology disrupts nuclear pore complexes and nucleocytoplasmic transport in ALS/FTD. *Nat Neurosci, 21*(2), 228-239. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-017-0047-3
- Cirillo, L., Cieren, A., Barbieri, S., Khong, A., Schwager, F., Parker, R. et Gotta, M. (2020, Feb 24). UBAP2L Forms Distinct Cores that Act in Nucleating Stress Granules Upstream of G3BP1. *Curr Biol*, 30(4), 698-707.e696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.12.020</u>
- Cirulli, E. T., Lasseigne, B. N., Petrovski, S., Sapp, P. C., Dion, P. A., Leblond, C. S., Couthouis, J., Lu, Y. F., Wang, Q., Krueger, B. J., Ren, Z., Keebler, J., Han, Y., Levy, S. E., Boone, B. E., Wimbish, J. R., Waite, L. L., Jones, A. L., Carulli, J. P., Day-Williams, A. G., Staropoli, J. F., Xin, W. W., Chesi, A., Raphael, A. R., McKenna-Yasek, D., Cady, J., Vianney de Jong, J. M., Kenna, K. P., Smith, B. N., Topp, S., Miller, J., Gkazi, A., Al-Chalabi, A., van den Berg, L. H., Veldink, J., Silani, V., Ticozzi, N., Shaw, C. E., Baloh, R. H., Appel, S., Simpson, E., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Pulst, S. M., Gibson, S., Trojanowski,

J. Q., Elman, L., McCluskey, L., Grossman, M., Shneider, N. A., Chung, W. K., Ravits, J. M., Glass, J. D., Sims, K. B., Van Deerlin, V. M., Maniatis, T., Hayes, S. D., Ordureau, A., Swarup, S., Landers, J., Baas, F., Allen, A. S., Bedlack, R. S., Harper, J. W., Gitler, A. D., Rouleau, G. A., Brown, R., Harms, M. B., Cooper, G. M., Harris, T., Myers, R. M. et Goldstein, D. B. (2015, Mar 27). Exome sequencing in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis identifies risk genes and pathways. *Science*, *347*(6229), 1436-1441. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa3650

- Cléry, A., Blatter, M. et Allain, F. H. (2008, Jun). RNA recognition motifs: boring? Not quite. *Curr Opin Struct Biol, 18*(3), 290-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2008.04.002</u>
- Cohen, T. J., Lee, V. M. et Trojanowski, J. Q. (2011, Nov). TDP-43 functions and pathogenic mechanisms implicated in TDP-43 proteinopathies. *Trends Mol Med*, 17(11), 659-667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2011.06.004</u>
- Da Cruz, S. et Cleveland, D. W. (2011, 2011/12/01/). Understanding the role of TDP-43 and FUS/TLS in ALS and beyond. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 21(6), 904-919. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2011.05.029
- de Carvalho, M. (2020, Jul). Electrodiagnosis of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: A Review of Existing Guidelines. J Clin Neurophysiol, 37(4), 294-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/wnp.000000000000682</u>
- De Vos, K. J. et Hafezparast, M. (2017, Sep). Neurobiology of axonal transport defects in motor neuron diseases: Opportunities for translational research? *Neurobiol Dis*, 105, 283-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2017.02.004</u>
- DeJesus-Hernandez, M., Mackenzie, I. R., Boeve, B. F., Boxer, A. L., Baker, M., Rutherford, N. J., Nicholson, A. M., Finch, N. A., Flynn, H., Adamson, J., Kouri, N., Wojtas, A., Sengdy, P., Hsiung, G. Y., Karydas, A., Seeley, W. W., Josephs, K. A., Coppola, G., Geschwind, D. H., Wszolek, Z. K., Feldman, H., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Miller, B. L., Dickson, D. W., Boylan, K. B., Graff-Radford, N. R. et Rademakers, R. (2011, Oct 20). Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of C9ORF72 causes chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. *Neuron*, 72(2), 245-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.011

- Deleon, J. et Miller, B. L. (2018). Frontotemporal dementia. *Handb Clin Neurol, 148*, 409-430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-64076-5.00027-2</u>
- Dewey, C. M., Cenik, B., Sephton, C. F., Dries, D. R., Mayer, P., 3rd, Good, S. K., Johnson, B. A., Herz, J. et Yu, G. (2011, Mar). TDP-43 is directed to stress granules by sorbitol, a novel physiological osmotic and oxidative stressor. *Mol Cell Biol*, 31(5), 1098-1108. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.01279-10
- Ding, X. L., Husseman, J., Tomashevski, A., Nochlin, D., Jin, L. W. et Vincent, I. (2000, Dec). The cell cycle Cdc25A tyrosine phosphatase is activated in degenerating postmitotic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol, 157(6), 1983-1990. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-9440(10)64837-7
- Doi, Y., Atsuta, N., Sobue, G., Morita, M. et Nakano, I. (2014). Prevalence and incidence of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in Japan. J Epidemiol, 24(6), 494-499. https://doi.org/10.2188/jea.JE20140059
- Donnelly, N., Gorman, A. M., Gupta, S. et Samali, A. (2013, Oct). The eIF2α kinases: their structures and functions. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 70(19), 3493-3511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1252-6</u>
- Dugger, B. N. et Dickson, D. W. (2017, Jul 5). Pathology of Neurodegenerative Diseases. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol, 9(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a028035</u>
- Fecto, F., Yan, J., Vemula, S. P., Liu, E., Yang, Y., Chen, W., Zheng, J. G., Shi, Y., Siddique, N., Arrat, H., Donkervoort, S., Ajroud-Driss, S., Sufit, R. L., Heller, S. L., Deng, H. X. et Siddique, T. (2011, Nov). SQSTM1 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch Neurol*, 68(11), 1440-1446. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archneurol.2011.250</u>
- Finegan, E., Chipika, R. H., Li Hi Shing, S., Hardiman, O. et Bede, P. (2019). Pathological Crying and Laughing in Motor Neuron Disease: Pathobiology, Screening, Intervention. *Front Neurol*, 10, 260. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2019.00260</u>
- Gal, J., Chen, J., Na, D. Y., Tichacek, L., Barnett, K. R. et Zhu, H. (2019, Nov 15). The Acetylation of Lysine-376 of G3BP1 Regulates RNA Binding and Stress Granule Dynamics. *Mol Cell Biol*, 39(22). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00052-19</u>
- Gallouzi, I. E., Parker, F., Chebli, K., Maurier, F., Labourier, E., Barlat, I., Capony, J. P., Tocque,B. et Tazi, J. (1998, Jul). A novel phosphorylation-dependent RNase activity of GAP-SH3

binding protein: a potential link between signal transduction and RNA stability. *Mol Cell Biol, 18*(7), 3956-3965. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.18.7.3956</u>

- Gasset-Rosa, F., Lu, S., Yu, H., Chen, C., Melamed, Z., Guo, L., Shorter, J., Da Cruz, S. et Cleveland, D. W. (2019, Apr 17). Cytoplasmic TDP-43 De-mixing Independent of Stress Granules Drives Inhibition of Nuclear Import, Loss of Nuclear TDP-43, and Cell Death. *Neuron*, 102(2), 339-357.e337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2019.02.038</u>
- Gilks, N., Kedersha, N., Ayodele, M., Shen, L., Stoecklin, G., Dember, L. M. et Anderson, P. (2004, Dec). Stress granule assembly is mediated by prion-like aggregation of TIA-1. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15(12), 5383-5398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e04-08-0715</u>
- Gordon, P. H. (2013, Oct 1). Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: An update for 2013 Clinical Features, Pathophysiology, Management and Therapeutic Trials. *Aging Dis*, 4(5), 295-310. <u>https://doi.org/10.14336/ad.2013.0400295</u>
- Govaarts, R., Beeldman, E., Kampelmacher, M. J., van Tol, M. J., van den Berg, L. H., van der Kooi, A. J., Wijkstra, P. J., Zijnen-Suyker, M., Cobben, N. A., Schmand, B. A., de Haan, R. J., de Visser, M. et Raaphorst, J. (2016, Dec). The frontotemporal syndrome of ALS is associated with poor survival. *J Neurol*, 263(12), 2476-2483. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-016-8290-1
- Guillén-Boixet, J., Kopach, A., Holehouse, A. S., Wittmann, S., Jahnel, M., Schlüßler, R., Kim, K., Trussina, I., Wang, J., Mateju, D., Poser, I., Maharana, S., Ruer-Gruß, M., Richter, D., Zhang, X., Chang, Y. T., Guck, J., Honigmann, A., Mahamid, J., Hyman, A. A., Pappu, R. V., Alberti, S. et Franzmann, T. M. (2020, Apr 16). RNA-Induced Conformational Switching and Clustering of G3BP Drive Stress Granule Assembly by Condensation. *Cell, 181*(2), 346-361.e317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.049
- Guo, W., Chen, Y., Zhou, X., Kar, A., Ray, P., Chen, X., Rao, E. J., Yang, M., Ye, H., Zhu, L., Liu, J., Xu, M., Yang, Y., Wang, C., Zhang, D., Bigio, E. H., Mesulam, M., Shen, Y., Xu, Q., Fushimi, K. et Wu, J. Y. (2011, Jun 12). An ALS-associated mutation affecting TDP-43 enhances protein aggregation, fibril formation and neurotoxicity. *Nat Struct Mol Biol*, *18*(7), 822-830. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2053</u>

- Hardiman, O., Al-Chalabi, A., Chio, A., Corr, E. M., Logroscino, G., Robberecht, W., Shaw, P. J., Simmons, Z. et van den Berg, L. H. (2017, Oct 5). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*, 3, 17071. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2017.71</u>
- Hardiman, O. et van den Berg, L. H. (2017, Jul). Edaravone: a new treatment for ALS on the horizon? *Lancet Neurol*, 16(7), 490-491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(17)30163-1</u>
- Hogg, M. C., Halang, L., Woods, I., Coughlan, K. S. et Prehn, J. H. M. (2018, Aug). Riluzole does not improve lifespan or motor function in three ALS mouse models. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*, 19(5-6), 438-445. https://doi.org/10.1080/21678421.2017.1407796
- Igaz, L. M., Kwong, L. K., Lee, E. B., Chen-Plotkin, A., Swanson, E., Unger, T., Malunda, J., Xu, Y., Winton, M. J., Trojanowski, J. Q. et Lee, V. M. (2011, Feb). Dysregulation of the ALSassociated gene TDP-43 leads to neuronal death and degeneration in mice. *J Clin Invest*, *121*(2), 726-738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci44867</u>
- Isabelle, M., Gagné, J. P., Gallouzi, I. E. et Poirier, G. G. (2012, Oct 1). Quantitative proteomics and dynamic imaging reveal that G3BP-mediated stress granule assembly is poly(ADPribose)-dependent following exposure to MNNG-induced DNA alkylation. J Cell Sci, 125(Pt 19), 4555-4566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.106963</u>
- Jackson, C. E., Gronseth, G., Rosenfeld, J., Barohn, R. J., Dubinsky, R., Simpson, C. B., McVey, A., Kittrell, P. P., King, R. et Herbelin, L. (2009, Feb). Randomized double-blind study of botulinum toxin type B for sialorrhea in ALS patients. *Muscle Nerve*, 39(2), 137-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mus.21213</u>
- Jaiswal, M. K. (2014). Selective vulnerability of motoneuron and perturbed mitochondrial calcium homeostasis in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: implications for motoneurons specific calcium dysregulation. *Mol Cell Ther*, 2, 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/2052-8426-2-26</u>
- Jaiswal, M. K. (2019, Mar). Riluzole and edaravone: A tale of two amyotrophic lateral sclerosis drugs. *Med Res Rev, 39*(2), 733-748. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/med.21528</u>
- Johnson, J. O., Mandrioli, J., Benatar, M., Abramzon, Y., Van Deerlin, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Gibbs, J. R., Brunetti, M., Gronka, S., Wuu, J., Ding, J., McCluskey, L., Martinez-Lage, M., Falcone, D., Hernandez, D. G., Arepalli, S., Chong, S., Schymick, J. C., Rothstein, J., Landi, F., Wang, Y. D., Calvo, A., Mora, G., Sabatelli, M., Monsurrò, M. R., Battistini, S.,

Salvi, F., Spataro, R., Sola, P., Borghero, G., Galassi, G., Scholz, S. W., Taylor, J. P., Restagno, G., Chiò, A. et Traynor, B. J. (2010, Dec 9). Exome sequencing reveals VCP mutations as a cause of familial ALS. *Neuron*, *68*(5), 857-864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.11.036

- Josephs, K. A., Lin, W. L., Ahmed, Z., Stroh, D. A., Graff-Radford, N. R. et Dickson, D. W. (2008, Aug). Frontotemporal lobar degeneration with ubiquitin-positive, but TDP-43-negative inclusions. *Acta Neuropathol*, 116(2), 159-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-008-0397-</u> <u>8</u>
- Josephs, K. A., Murray, M. E., Whitwell, J. L., Parisi, J. E., Petrucelli, L., Jack, C. R., Petersen, R. C. et Dickson, D. W. (2014, Mar). Staging TDP-43 pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol*, 127(3), 441-450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-013-1211-9</u>
- Kang, W., Wang, Y., Yang, W., Zhang, J., Zheng, H. et Li, D. (2021). Research Progress on the Structure and Function of G3BP. *Front Immunol*, 12, 718548. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.718548
- Kawaguchi, Y., Kovacs, J. J., McLaurin, A., Vance, J. M., Ito, A. et Yao, T. P. (2003, Dec 12). The deacetylase HDAC6 regulates aggresome formation and cell viability in response to misfolded protein stress. *Cell, 115*(6), 727-738. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(03)00939-5</u>
- Kedersha, N., Panas, M. D., Achorn, C. A., Lyons, S., Tisdale, S., Hickman, T., Thomas, M., Lieberman, J., McInerney, G. M., Ivanov, P. et Anderson, P. (2016, Mar 28). G3BP-Caprin1-USP10 complexes mediate stress granule condensation and associate with 40S subunits. *J Cell Biol*, 212(7), 845-860. <u>https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201508028</u>
- Kennedy, D., French, J., Guitard, E., Ru, K., Tocque, B. et Mattick, J. (2001). Characterization of G3BPs: tissue specific expression, chromosomal localisation and rasGAP(120) binding studies. J Cell Biochem, 84(1), 173-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.1277</u>
- Kikuchi, K., Setoyama, K., Kawahara, K. I., Nagasato, T., Terashi, T., Ueda, K., Nakanishi, K., Otsuka, S., Miura, N., Sameshima, H., Hosokawa, K., Harada, Y., Shrestha, B., Yamamoto, M., Morimoto-Yamashita, Y., Kikuchi, H., Kiyama, R., Kamikokuryo, C., Tancharoen, S., Sakakima, H., Morioka, M., Tanaka, E., Ito, T. et Maruyama, I. (2017). Edaravone, a

Synthetic Free Radical Scavenger, Enhances Alteplase-Mediated Thrombolysis. *Oxid Med Cell Longev*, 2017, 6873281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/6873281</u>

- Krapp, S., Greiner, E., Amin, B., Sonnewald, U. et Krenz, B. (2017, Jan 2). The stress granule component G3BP is a novel interaction partner for the nuclear shuttle proteins of the nanovirus pea necrotic yellow dwarf virus and geminivirus abutilon mosaic virus. *Virus Res*, 227, 6-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2016.09.021</u>
- Kuo, P. H., Doudeva, L. G., Wang, Y. T., Shen, C. K. et Yuan, H. S. (2009, Apr). Structural insights into TDP-43 in nucleic-acid binding and domain interactions. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 37(6), 1799-1808. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkp013</u>
- Kwiatkowski, T. J., Jr., Bosco, D. A., Leclerc, A. L., Tamrazian, E., Vanderburg, C. R., Russ, C., Davis, A., Gilchrist, J., Kasarskis, E. J., Munsat, T., Valdmanis, P., Rouleau, G. A., Hosler, B. A., Cortelli, P., de Jong, P. J., Yoshinaga, Y., Haines, J. L., Pericak-Vance, M. A., Yan, J., Ticozzi, N., Siddique, T., McKenna-Yasek, D., Sapp, P. C., Horvitz, H. R., Landers, J. E. et Brown, R. H., Jr. (2009, Feb 27). Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science*, *323*(5918), 1205-1208. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1166066
- Laver, J. D., Ly, J., Winn, A. K., Karaiskakis, A., Lin, S., Nie, K., Benic, G., Jaberi-Lashkari, N., Cao, W. X., Khademi, A., Westwood, J. T., Sidhu, S. S., Morris, Q., Angers, S., Smibert, C. A. et Lipshitz, H. D. (2020, Mar 10). The RNA-Binding Protein Rasputin/G3BP Enhances the Stability and Translation of Its Target mRNAs. *Cell Rep, 30*(10), 3353-3367.e3357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2020.02.066</u>
- Lee, A. K., Klein, J., Fon Tacer, K., Lord, T., Oatley, M. J., Oatley, J. M., Porter, S. N., Pruett-Miller, S. M., Tikhonova, E. B., Karamyshev, A. L., Wang, Y.-D., Yang, P., Korff, A., Kim, H. J., Taylor, J. P. et Potts, P. R. (2020, 2020/08//). Translational Repression of G3BP in Cancer and Germ Cells Suppresses Stress Granules and Enhances Stress Tolerance. *Molecular cell*, 79(4), 645-659.e649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.06.037</u>
- Lee, J. Y., Nagano, Y., Taylor, J. P., Lim, K. L. et Yao, T. P. (2010, May 17). Disease-causing mutations in parkin impair mitochondrial ubiquitination, aggregation, and HDAC6dependent mitophagy. *J Cell Biol*, 189(4), 671-679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201001039</u>

- Li, C. H., Ohn, T., Ivanov, P., Tisdale, S. et Anderson, P. (2010, Apr 1). eIF5A promotes translation elongation, polysome disassembly and stress granule assembly. *PLoS One*, 5(4), e9942. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009942</u>
- Liu-Yesucevitz, L., Bilgutay, A., Zhang, Y. J., Vanderweyde, T., Citro, A., Mehta, T., Zaarur, N., McKee, A., Bowser, R., Sherman, M., Petrucelli, L. et Wolozin, B. (2010, Oct 11). Tar DNA binding protein-43 (TDP-43) associates with stress granules: analysis of cultured cells and pathological brain tissue. *PLoS One, 5*(10), e13250. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013250
- Liu-Yesucevitz, L., Lin, A. Y., Ebata, A., Boon, J. Y., Reid, W., Xu, Y. F., Kobrin, K., Murphy, G. J., Petrucelli, L. et Wolozin, B. (2014, Mar 19). ALS-linked mutations enlarge TDP-43enriched neuronal RNA granules in the dendritic arbor. *J Neurosci*, 34(12), 4167-4174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2350-13.2014</u>
- Lloyd, R. E. (2016, Mar 30). Enterovirus Control of Translation and RNA Granule Stress Responses. *Viruses*, 8(4), 93. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v8040093</u>
- Logroscino, G. et Piccininni, M. (2019). Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Descriptive Epidemiology: The Origin of Geographic Difference. *Neuroepidemiology*, *52*(1-2), 93-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000493386</u>
- Longinetti, E. et Fang, F. (2019, Oct). Epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an update of recent literature. *Curr Opin Neurol*, *32*(5), 771-776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/wco.000000000000730</u>
- Lu, X., Alam, U., Willis, C. et Kennedy, D. (2021, Jan). Role of Chikungunya nsP3 in Regulating G3BP1 Activity, Stress Granule Formation and Drug Efficacy. Arch Med Res, 52(1), 48-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.10.002</u>
- Lukavsky, P. J., Daujotyte, D., Tollervey, J. R., Ule, J., Stuani, C., Buratti, E., Baralle, F. E., Damberger, F. F. et Allain, F. H. (2013, Dec). Molecular basis of UG-rich RNA recognition by the human splicing factor TDP-43. *Nat Struct Mol Biol, 20*(12), 1443-1449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2698</u>
- Mackenzie, I. R., Neumann, M., Baborie, A., Sampathu, D. M., Du Plessis, D., Jaros, E., Perry, R. H., Trojanowski, J. Q., Mann, D. M. et Lee, V. M. (2011, Jul). A harmonized classification

system for FTLD-TDP pathology. *Acta Neuropathol, 122*(1), 111-113. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-011-0845-8

- Mackenzie, I. R., Rademakers, R. et Neumann, M. (2010, Oct). TDP-43 and FUS in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. *Lancet Neurol*, 9(10), 995-1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(10)70195-2
- Maharana, S., Wang, J., Papadopoulos, D. K., Richter, D., Pozniakovsky, A., Poser, I., Bickle, M., Rizk, S., Guillén-Boixet, J., Franzmann, T. M., Jahnel, M., Marrone, L., Chang, Y. T., Sterneckert, J., Tomancak, P., Hyman, A. A. et Alberti, S. (2018, May 25). RNA buffers the phase separation behavior of prion-like RNA binding proteins. *Science*, *360*(6391), 918-921. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aar7366
- Marin, B., Couratier, P., Arcuti, S., Copetti, M., Fontana, A., Nicol, M., Raymondeau, M., Logroscino, G. et Preux, P. M. (2016, Jan). Stratification of ALS patients' survival: a population-based study. *J Neurol*, 263(1), 100-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-015-7940-z</u>
- Markmiller, S., Soltanieh, S., Server, K. L., Mak, R., Jin, W., Fang, M. Y., Luo, E. C., Krach, F., Yang, D., Sen, A., Fulzele, A., Wozniak, J. M., Gonzalez, D. J., Kankel, M. W., Gao, F. B., Bennett, E. J., Lécuyer, E. et Yeo, G. W. (2018, Jan 25). Context-Dependent and Disease-Specific Diversity in Protein Interactions within Stress Granules. *Cell*, *172*(3), 590-604.e513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.12.032
- Martin, S., Bellora, N., González-Vallinas, J., Irimia, M., Chebli, K., de Toledo, M., Raabe, M., Eyras, E., Urlaub, H., Blencowe, B. J. et Tazi, J. (2016, Nov). Preferential binding of a stable G3BP ribonucleoprotein complex to intron-retaining transcripts in mouse brain and modulation of their expression in the cerebellum. *J Neurochem*, 139(3), 349-368. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13768
- Maruyama, H., Morino, H., Ito, H., Izumi, Y., Kato, H., Watanabe, Y., Kinoshita, Y., Kamada, M., Nodera, H., Suzuki, H., Komure, O., Matsuura, S., Kobatake, K., Morimoto, N., Abe, K., Suzuki, N., Aoki, M., Kawata, A., Hirai, T., Kato, T., Ogasawara, K., Hirano, A., Takumi, T., Kusaka, H., Hagiwara, K., Kaji, R. et Kawakami, H. (2010, May 13). Mutations of optineurin in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature*, 465(7295), 223-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08971</u>

- Masrori, P. et Van Damme, P. (2020, Oct). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a clinical review. Eur J Neurol, 27(10), 1918-1929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.14393</u>
- Mathis, S., Couratier, P., Julian, A., Corcia, P. et Le Masson, G. (2017, Feb). Current view and perspectives in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neural Regen Res*, 12(2), 181-184. https://doi.org/10.4103/1673-5374.200794
- Matsuki, H., Takahashi, M., Higuchi, M., Makokha, G. N., Oie, M. et Fujii, M. (2013, Feb). Both G3BP1 and G3BP2 contribute to stress granule formation. *Genes Cells*, 18(2), 135-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gtc.12023</u>
- Mazroui, R., Sukarieh, R., Bordeleau, M. E., Kaufman, R. J., Northcote, P., Tanaka, J., Gallouzi,
 I. et Pelletier, J. (2006, Oct). Inhibition of ribosome recruitment induces stress granule formation independently of eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha phosphorylation. *Mol Biol Cell*, *17*(10), 4212-4219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e06-04-0318</u>
- McDonald, K. K., Aulas, A., Destroismaisons, L., Pickles, S., Beleac, E., Camu, W., Rouleau, G. A. et Vande Velde, C. (2011, Apr 1). TAR DNA-binding protein 43 (TDP-43) regulates stress granule dynamics via differential regulation of G3BP and TIA-1. *Hum Mol Genet*, 20(7), 1400-1410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddr021</u>
- McKee, A. C., Cantu, R. C., Nowinski, C. J., Hedley-Whyte, E. T., Gavett, B. E., Budson, A. E., Santini, V. E., Lee, H. S., Kubilus, C. A. et Stern, R. A. (2009, Jul). Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in athletes: progressive tauopathy after repetitive head injury. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 68(7), 709-735. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181a9d503
- Mehta, P., Kaye, W., Raymond, J., Punjani, R., Larson, T., Cohen, J., Muravov, O. et Horton, K. (2018, Nov 23). Prevalence of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis United States, 2015.
 MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 67(46), 1285-1289. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6746a1
- Miller, R. G. et Appel, S. H. (2017, 2017/10/31). Introduction to supplement: the current status of treatment for ALS. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Degeneration*, 18(sup1), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1080/21678421.2017.1361447
- Miller, R. G., Block, G., Katz, J. S., Barohn, R. J., Gopalakrishnan, V., Cudkowicz, M., Zhang, J. R., McGrath, M. S., Ludington, E., Appel, S. H. et Azhir, A. (2015, Jun). Randomized

- Miller, T. M., Pestronk, A., David, W., Rothstein, J., Simpson, E., Appel, S. H., Andres, P. L., Mahoney, K., Allred, P., Alexander, K., Ostrow, L. W., Schoenfeld, D., Macklin, E. A., Norris, D. A., Manousakis, G., Crisp, M., Smith, R., Bennett, C. F., Bishop, K. M. et Cudkowicz, M. E. (2013, May). An antisense oligonucleotide against SOD1 delivered intrathecally for patients with SOD1 familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase 1, randomised, first-in-man study. *Lancet Neurol*, *12*(5), 435-442. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(13)70061-9
- Mitsumoto, H., Brooks, B. R. et Silani, V. (2014, Nov). Clinical trials in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: why so many negative trials and how can trials be improved? *Lancet Neurol*, 13(11), 1127-1138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(14)70129-2</u>
- Mitsuzawa, S., Akiyama, T., Nishiyama, A., Suzuki, N., Kato, M., Warita, H., Izumi, R., Osana, S., Koyama, S., Kato, T., Suzuki, Y. et Aoki, M. (2018, Jun). TARDBP p.G376D mutation, found in rapid progressive familial ALS, induces mislocalization of TDP-43. *eNeurologicalSci*, 11, 20-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ensci.2018.04.001</u>
- Mutihac, R., Alegre-Abarrategui, J., Gordon, D., Farrimond, L., Yamasaki-Mann, M., Talbot, K. et Wade-Martins, R. (2015, Mar). TARDBP pathogenic mutations increase cytoplasmic translocation of TDP-43 and cause reduction of endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ signaling in motor neurons. *Neurobiol Dis*, 75, 64-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2014.12.010
- Nehrbass, U. et Blobel, G. (1996, Apr 5). Role of the nuclear transport factor p10 in nuclear import. *Science*, 272(5258), 120-122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.272.5258.120</u>
- Neumann, M., Sampathu, D. M., Kwong, L. K., Truax, A. C., Micsenyi, M. C., Chou, T. T., Bruce, J., Schuck, T., Grossman, M., Clark, C. M., McCluskey, L. F., Miller, B. L., Masliah, E., Mackenzie, I. R., Feldman, H., Feiden, W., Kretzschmar, H. A., Trojanowski, J. Q. et Lee, V. M. (2006, Oct 6). Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science*, *314*(5796), 130-133. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1134108
- Nicolas, A., Kenna, K. P., Renton, A. E., Ticozzi, N., Faghri, F., Chia, R., Dominov, J. A., Kenna, B. J., Nalls, M. A., Keagle, P., Rivera, A. M., van Rheenen, W., Murphy, N. A., van Vugt,

J., Geiger, J. T., Van der Spek, R. A., Pliner, H. A., Shankaracharya, Smith, B. N., Marangi, G., Topp, S. D., Abramzon, Y., Gkazi, A. S., Eicher, J. D., Kenna, A., Mora, G., Calvo, A., Mazzini, L., Riva, N., Mandrioli, J., Caponnetto, C., Battistini, S., Volanti, P., La Bella, V., Conforti, F. L., Borghero, G., Messina, S., Simone, I. L., Trojsi, F., Salvi, F., Logullo, F. O., D'Alfonso, S., Corrado, L., Capasso, M., Ferrucci, L., Moreno, C. A. M., Kamalakaran, S., Goldstein, D. B., Gitler, A. D., Harris, T., Myers, R. M., Phatnani, H., Musunuri, R. L., Evani, U. S., Abhyankar, A., Zody, M. C., Kaye, J., Finkbeiner, S., Wyman, S. K., LeNail, A., Lima, L., Fraenkel, E., Svendsen, C. N., Thompson, L. M., Van Eyk, J. E., Berry, J. D., Miller, T. M., Kolb, S. J., Cudkowicz, M., Baxi, E., Benatar, M., Taylor, J. P., Rampersaud, E., Wu, G., Wuu, J., Lauria, G., Verde, F., Fogh, I., Tiloca, C., Comi, G. P., Sorarù, G., Cereda, C., Corcia, P., Laaksovirta, H., Myllykangas, L., Jansson, L., Valori, M., Ealing, J., Hamdalla, H., Rollinson, S., Pickering-Brown, S., Orrell, R. W., Sidle, K. C., Malaspina, A., Hardy, J., Singleton, A. B., Johnson, J. O., Arepalli, S., Sapp, P. C., McKenna-Yasek, D., Polak, M., Asress, S., Al-Sarraj, S., King, A., Troakes, C., Vance, C., de Belleroche, J., Baas, F., Ten Asbroek, A., Muñoz-Blanco, J. L., Hernandez, D. G., Ding, J., Gibbs, J. R., Scholz, S. W., Floeter, M. K., Campbell, R. H., Landi, F., Bowser, R., Pulst, S. M., Ravits, J. M., MacGowan, D. J. L., Kirby, J., Pioro, E. P., Pamphlett, R., Broach, J., Gerhard, G., Dunckley, T. L., Brady, C. B., Kowall, N. W., Troncoso, J. C., Le Ber, I., Mouzat, K., Lumbroso, S., Heiman-Patterson, T. D., Kamel, F., Van Den Bosch, L., Baloh, R. H., Strom, T. M., Meitinger, T., Shatunov, A., Van Eijk, K. R., de Carvalho, M., Kooyman, M., Middelkoop, B., Moisse, M., McLaughlin, R. L., Van Es, M. A., Weber, M., Boylan, K. B., Van Blitterswijk, M., Rademakers, R., Morrison, K. E., Basak, A. N., Mora, J. S., Drory, V. E., Shaw, P. J., Turner, M. R., Talbot, K., Hardiman, O., Williams, K. L., Fifita, J. A., Nicholson, G. A., Blair, I. P., Rouleau, G. A., Esteban-Pérez, J., García-Redondo, A., Al-Chalabi, A., Rogaeva, E., Zinman, L., Ostrow, L. W., Maragakis, N. J., Rothstein, J. D., Simmons, Z., Cooper-Knock, J., Brice, A., Goutman, S. A., Feldman, E. L., Gibson, S. B., Taroni, F., Ratti, A., Gellera, C., Van Damme, P., Robberecht, W., Fratta, P., Sabatelli, M., Lunetta, C., Ludolph, A. C., Andersen, P. M., Weishaupt, J. H., Camu, W., Trojanowski, J. Q., Van Deerlin, V. M., Brown, R. H., Jr., van den Berg, L. H., Veldink, J. H., Harms, M. B., Glass, J. D., Stone, D. J., Tienari, P., Silani, V., Chiò, A., Shaw, C. E., Traynor, B. J. et Landers, J. E. (2018, Mar 21). Genome-wide Analyses Identify KIF5A as a Novel ALS Gene. *Neuron*, *97*(6), 1268-1283.e1266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.02.027</u>

- Niedermeyer, S., Murn, M. et Choi, P. J. (2019, Feb). Respiratory Failure in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. *Chest*, 155(2), 401-408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2018.06.035
- Nonaka, T., Kametani, F., Arai, T., Akiyama, H. et Hasegawa, M. (2009, Sep 15). Truncation and pathogenic mutations facilitate the formation of intracellular aggregates of TDP-43. *Hum Mol Genet, 18*(18), 3353-3364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp275</u>
- Onomoto, K., Jogi, M., Yoo, J. S., Narita, R., Morimoto, S., Takemura, A., Sambhara, S., Kawaguchi, A., Osari, S., Nagata, K., Matsumiya, T., Namiki, H., Yoneyama, M. et Fujita, T. (2012). Critical role of an antiviral stress granule containing RIG-I and PKR in viral detection and innate immunity. *PLoS One*, 7(8), e43031. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043031
- Oskarsson, B., Gendron, T. F. et Staff, N. P. (2018, Nov). Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: An Update for 2018. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 93(11), 1617-1628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.04.007</u>
- Patel, B. K., Gavin-Smyth, J. et Liebman, S. W. (2009, Mar). The yeast global transcriptional corepressor protein Cyc8 can propagate as a prion. *Nat Cell Biol*, 11(3), 344-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1843</u>
- Pioro, E. P., Brooks, B. R., Cummings, J., Schiffer, R., Thisted, R. A., Wynn, D., Hepner, A. et Kaye, R. (2010, Nov). Dextromethorphan plus ultra low-dose quinidine reduces pseudobulbar affect. *Ann Neurol*, 68(5), 693-702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22093</u>
- Polymenidou, M., Lagier-Tourenne, C., Hutt, K. R., Huelga, S. C., Moran, J., Liang, T. Y., Ling, S. C., Sun, E., Wancewicz, E., Mazur, C., Kordasiewicz, H., Sedaghat, Y., Donohue, J. P., Shiue, L., Bennett, C. F., Yeo, G. W. et Cleveland, D. W. (2011, Apr). Long pre-mRNA depletion and RNA missplicing contribute to neuronal vulnerability from loss of TDP-43. *Nat Neurosci, 14*(4), 459-468. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2779
- Pringle, C. E., Hudson, A. J., Munoz, D. G., Kiernan, J. A., Brown, W. F. et Ebers, G. C. (1992, Apr). Primary lateral sclerosis. Clinical features, neuropathology and diagnostic criteria. *Brain*, 115 (Pt 2), 495-520. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/115.2.495

- Protter, D. S. W. et Parker, R. (2016, Sep). Principles and Properties of Stress Granules. *Trends Cell Biol, 26*(9), 668-679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2016.05.004</u>
- Ramachandran, B., Stabley, J. N., Cheng, S. L., Behrmann, A. S., Gay, A., Li, L., Mead, M., Kozlitina, J., Lemoff, A., Mirzaei, H., Chen, Z. et Towler, D. A. (2018, May 25). A GTPaseactivating protein-binding protein (G3BP1)/antiviral protein relay conveys arteriosclerotic Wnt signals in aortic smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem, 293(21), 7942-7968. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA118.002046
- Ratti, A. et Buratti, E. (2016, Aug). Physiological functions and pathobiology of TDP-43 and FUS/TLS proteins. *J Neurochem*, *138 Suppl 1*, 95-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13625</u>
- Renton, A. E., Majounie, E., Waite, A., Simón-Sánchez, J., Rollinson, S., Gibbs, J. R., Schymick, J. C., Laaksovirta, H., van Swieten, J. C., Myllykangas, L., Kalimo, H., Paetau, A., Abramzon, Y., Remes, A. M., Kaganovich, A., Scholz, S. W., Duckworth, J., Ding, J., Harmer, D. W., Hernandez, D. G., Johnson, J. O., Mok, K., Ryten, M., Trabzuni, D., Guerreiro, R. J., Orrell, R. W., Neal, J., Murray, A., Pearson, J., Jansen, I. E., Sondervan, D., Seelaar, H., Blake, D., Young, K., Halliwell, N., Callister, J. B., Toulson, G., Richardson, A., Gerhard, A., Snowden, J., Mann, D., Neary, D., Nalls, M. A., Peuralinna, T., Jansson, L., Isoviita, V. M., Kaivorinne, A. L., Hölttä-Vuori, M., Ikonen, E., Sulkava, R., Benatar, M., Wuu, J., Chiò, A., Restagno, G., Borghero, G., Sabatelli, M., Heckerman, D., Rogaeva, E., Zinman, L., Rothstein, J. D., Sendtner, M., Drepper, C., Eichler, E. E., Alkan, C., Abdullaev, Z., Pack, S. D., Dutra, A., Pak, E., Hardy, J., Singleton, A., Williams, N. M., Heutink, P., Pickering-Brown, S., Morris, H. R., Tienari, P. J. et Traynor, B. J. (2011, Oct 20). A hexanucleotide repeat expansion in C90RF72 is the cause of chromosome 9p21-linked ALS-FTD. *Neuron*, *72*(2), 257-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.09.010
- Rosen, D. R., Siddique, T., Patterson, D., Figlewicz, D. A., Sapp, P., Hentati, A., Donaldson, D., Goto, J., O'Regan, J. P., Deng, H. X. et et al. (1993, Mar 4). Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature*, 362(6415), 59-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/362059a0</u>
- Sahoo, P. K., Lee, S. J., Jaiswal, P. B., Alber, S., Kar, A. N., Miller-Randolph, S., Taylor, E. E., Smith, T., Singh, B., Ho, T. S., Urisman, A., Chand, S., Pena, E. A., Burlingame, A. L., Woolf, C. J., Fainzilber, M., English, A. W. et Twiss, J. L. (2018, Aug 22). Axonal G3BP1

stress granule protein limits axonal mRNA translation and nerve regeneration. *Nat Commun, 9*(1), 3358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05647-x</u>

- Shin, Y. et Brangwynne, C. P. (2017, Sep 22). Liquid phase condensation in cell physiology and disease. *Science*, 357(6357). <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf4382</u>
- Sidibé, H., Dubinski, A. et Vande Velde, C. (2021, May). The multi-functional RNA-binding protein G3BP1 and its potential implication in neurodegenerative disease. *J Neurochem*, 157(4), 944-962. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.15280</u>
- Sidibé, H., Khalfallah, Y., Xiao, S., Gómez, N. B., Fakim, H., Tank, E. M. H., Di Tomasso, G., Bareke, E., Aulas, A., McKeever, P. M., Melamed, Z. e., Destroimaisons, L., Deshaies, J.-E., Zinman, L., Parker, J. A., Legault, P., Tétreault, M., Barmada, S. J., Robertson, J. et Vande Velde, C. (2021). TDP-43 stabilizes G3BP1 mRNA: relevance to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/frontotemporal dementia. *Brain, 144*(11), 3461-3476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awab217</u>
- Somasekharan, S. P., Zhang, F., Saxena, N., Huang, J. N., Kuo, I. C., Low, C., Bell, R., Adomat, H., Stoynov, N., Foster, L., Gleave, M. et Sorensen, P. H. (2020, Jul 9). G3BP1-linked mRNA partitioning supports selective protein synthesis in response to oxidative stress. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 48(12), 6855-6873. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa376</u>
- Sreedharan, J., Blair, I. P., Tripathi, V. B., Hu, X., Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Ackerley, S., Durnall, J. C., Williams, K. L., Buratti, E., Baralle, F., de Belleroche, J., Mitchell, J. D., Leigh, P. N., Al-Chalabi, A., Miller, C. C., Nicholson, G. et Shaw, C. E. (2008, Mar 21). TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science*, *319*(5870), 1668-1672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1154584</u>
- Stetkarova, I. et Ehler, E. (2021, Feb 3). Diagnostics of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Up to Date. *Diagnostics (Basel)*, 11(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11020231</u>
- Steyn, F. J., Ioannides, Z. A., van Eijk, R. P. A., Heggie, S., Thorpe, K. A., Ceslis, A., Heshmat, S., Henders, A. K., Wray, N. R., van den Berg, L. H., Henderson, R. D., McCombe, P. A. et Ngo, S. T. (2018, Oct). Hypermetabolism in ALS is associated with greater functional decline and shorter survival. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 89(10), 1016-1023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp-2017-317887</u>

- Strong, M. J., Abrahams, S., Goldstein, L. H., Woolley, S., McLaughlin, P., Snowden, J., Mioshi, E., Roberts-South, A., Benatar, M., HortobáGyi, T., Rosenfeld, J., Silani, V., Ince, P. G. et Turner, M. R. (2017, May). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis frontotemporal spectrum disorder (ALS-FTSD): Revised diagnostic criteria. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener, 18*(3-4), 153-174. https://doi.org/10.1080/21678421.2016.1267768
- Sun, C. S., Wang, C. Y., Chen, B. P., He, R. Y., Liu, G. C., Wang, C. H., Chen, W., Chern, Y. et Huang, J. J. (2014). The influence of pathological mutations and proline substitutions in TDP-43 glycine-rich peptides on its amyloid properties and cellular toxicity. *PLoS One*, 9(8), e103644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0103644</u>
- Suzuki, N., Akiyama, T., Warita, H. et Aoki, M. (2020). Omics Approach to Axonal Dysfunction of Motor Neurons in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS). *Front Neurosci, 14*, 194. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00194
- Takahashi, M., Higuchi, M., Matsuki, H., Yoshita, M., Ohsawa, T., Oie, M. et Fujii, M. (2013, Feb). Stress granules inhibit apoptosis by reducing reactive oxygen species production. *Mol Cell Biol*, 33(4), 815-829. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00763-12</u>
- Talbot, K. (2009). Motor neuron disease. *THE BARE ESSENTIALS*, 9(5), 303-309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2009.188151</u> %J Practical Neurology
- Talbott, E. O., Malek, A. M. et Lacomis, D. (2016). The epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Handb Clin Neurol*, 138, 225-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-802973-2.00013-6</u>
- Taniuchi, K., Nishimori, I. et Hollingsworth, M. A. (2011, Jul). The N-terminal domain of G3BP enhances cell motility and invasion by posttranscriptional regulation of BART. *Mol Cancer Res*, 9(7), 856-866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.Mcr-10-0574</u>
- Taylor, J. P., Brown, R. H., Jr. et Cleveland, D. W. (2016, Nov 10). Decoding ALS: from genes to mechanism. *Nature*, 539(7628), 197-206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20413</u>
- Tollervey, J. R., Curk, T., Rogelj, B., Briese, M., Cereda, M., Kayikci, M., König, J., Hortobágyi, T., Nishimura, A. L., Zupunski, V., Patani, R., Chandran, S., Rot, G., Zupan, B., Shaw, C. E. et Ule, J. (2011, Apr). Characterizing the RNA targets and position-dependent splicing regulation by TDP-43. *Nat Neurosci, 14*(4), 452-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2778</u>

- Traynor, B. J., Codd, M. B., Corr, B., Forde, C., Frost, E. et Hardiman, O. (2000, Jan). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mimic syndromes: a population-based study. *Arch Neurol*, 57(1), 109-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.57.1.109</u>
- Tsai, W. C., Reineke, L. C., Jain, A., Jung, S. Y. et Lloyd, R. E. (2017, Nov 17). Histone arginine demethylase JMJD6 is linked to stress granule assembly through demethylation of the stress granule-nucleating protein G3BP1. J Biol Chem, 292(46), 18886-18896. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.800706
- Udan-Johns, M., Bengoechea, R., Bell, S., Shao, J., Diamond, M. I., True, H. L., Weihl, C. C. et Baloh, R. H. (2014, Jan 1). Prion-like nuclear aggregation of TDP-43 during heat shock is regulated by HSP40/70 chaperones. *Hum Mol Genet*, 23(1), 157-170. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddt408
- Ueberham, U. et Arendt, T. (2005, Jun). The expression of cell cycle proteins in neurons and its relevance for Alzheimer's disease. *Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord*, 4(3), 293-306. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1568007054038175</u>
- van Blitterswijk, M., van Es, M. A., Hennekam, E. A., Dooijes, D., van Rheenen, W., Medic, J., Bourque, P. R., Schelhaas, H. J., van der Kooi, A. J., de Visser, M., de Bakker, P. I., Veldink, J. H. et van den Berg, L. H. (2012, Sep 1). Evidence for an oligogenic basis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Hum Mol Genet*, 21(17), 3776-3784. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/dds199
- Van Es, M. A., Hardiman, O., Chio, A., Al-Chalabi, A., Pasterkamp, R. J., Veldink, J. H. et Van den Berg, L. H. J. T. L. (2017). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. 390(10107), 2084-2098.
- Vognsen, T., Møller, I. R. et Kristensen, O. (2013). Crystal structures of the human G3BP1 NTF2like domain visualize FxFG Nup repeat specificity. *PLoS One*, 8(12), e80947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0080947</u>
- Vrijsen, B., Testelmans, D., Belge, C., Robberecht, W., Van Damme, P., Buyse, B. J. A. L. S. et Degeneration, F. (2013). Non-invasive ventilation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. 14(2), 85-95.
- Wang, S., Latallo, M. J., Zhang, Z., Huang, B., Bobrovnikov, D. G., Dong, D., Livingston, N. M.,
 Tjoeng, W., Hayes, L. R., Rothstein, J. D., Ostrow, L. W., Wu, B. et Sun, S. (2021, Aug
 13). Nuclear export and translation of circular repeat-containing intronic RNA in

C9ORF72-ALS/FTD. Nat Commun, 12(1), 4908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-</u> 25082-9

- Wang, Y., Fu, D., Chen, Y., Su, J., Wang, Y., Li, X., Zhai, W., Niu, Y., Yue, D. et Geng, H. (2018, May 1). G3BP1 promotes tumor progression and metastasis through IL-6/G3BP1/STAT3 signaling axis in renal cell carcinomas. *Cell Death Dis*, 9(5), 501. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-0504-2
- Webster, C. P., Smith, E. F., Bauer, C. S., Moller, A., Hautbergue, G. M., Ferraiuolo, L., Myszczynska, M. A., Higginbottom, A., Walsh, M. J., Whitworth, A. J., Kaspar, B. K., Meyer, K., Shaw, P. J., Grierson, A. J. et De Vos, K. J. (2016, Aug 1). The C9orf72 protein interacts with Rab1a and the ULK1 complex to regulate initiation of autophagy. *Embo j*, 35(15), 1656-1676. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201694401
- Weiss, M. D., Macklin, E. A., Simmons, Z., Knox, A. S., Greenblatt, D. J., Atassi, N., Graves, M., Parziale, N., Salameh, J. S., Quinn, C., Brown, R. H., Jr., Distad, J. B., Trivedi, J., Shefner, J. M., Barohn, R. J., Pestronk, A., Swenson, A. et Cudkowicz, M. E. (2016, Apr 19). A randomized trial of mexiletine in ALS: Safety and effects on muscle cramps and progression. *Neurology*, 86(16), 1474-1481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.00000000002507</u>
- White, J. P. et Lloyd, R. E. (2011, Dec). Poliovirus unlinks TIA1 aggregation and mRNA stress granule formation. *J Virol*, 85(23), 12442-12454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.05888-11</u>
- Wijesekera, L. C., Mathers, S., Talman, P., Galtrey, C., Parkinson, M. H., Ganesalingam, J., Willey, E., Ampong, M. A., Ellis, C. M., Shaw, C. E., Al-Chalabi, A. et Leigh, P. N. (2009, Mar 24). Natural history and clinical features of the flail arm and flail leg ALS variants. *Neurology*, *72*(12), 1087-1094. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/01.wnl.0000345041.83406.a2</u>
- Williams, B. R. (2001, Jul 3). Signal integration via PKR. *Sci STKE*, 2001(89), re2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/stke.2001.89.re2</u>
- Winton, M. J., Igaz, L. M., Wong, M. M., Kwong, L. K., Trojanowski, J. Q. et Lee, V. M. (2008, May 9). Disturbance of nuclear and cytoplasmic TAR DNA-binding protein (TDP-43) induces disease-like redistribution, sequestration, and aggregate formation. *J Biol Chem*, 283(19), 13302-13309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M800342200</u>

- Winton, M. J., Van Deerlin, V. M., Kwong, L. K., Yuan, W., Wood, E. M., Yu, C. E., Schellenberg,
 G. D., Rademakers, R., Caselli, R., Karydas, A., Trojanowski, J. Q., Miller, B. L. et Lee,
 V. M. (2008, Jun 25). A90V TDP-43 variant results in the aberrant localization of TDP-43 in vitro. *FEBS Lett*, 582(15), 2252-2256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2008.05.024</u>
- Wolozin, B. et Ivanov, P. (2019, 2019/11/01). Stress granules and neurodegeneration. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 20(11), 649-666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-019-0222-5</u>
- Wood, A., Gurfinkel, Y., Polain, N., Lamont, W. et Lyn Rea, S. (2021, Apr 29). Molecular Mechanisms Underlying TDP-43 Pathology in Cellular and Animal Models of ALS and FTLD. *Int J Mol Sci, 22*(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22094705</u>
- Xu, C., Wang, P., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y., Fan, W., Upton, M. P., Lohavanichbutr, P., Houck, J. R., Doody, D. R., Futran, N. D., Zhao, L. P., Schwartz, S. M., Chen, C. et Méndez, E. (2013). Integrative genomics in combination with RNA interference identifies prognostic and functionally relevant gene targets for oral squamous cell carcinoma. *PLoS Genet*, 9(1), e1003169. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003169
- Yang, P., Mathieu, C., Kolaitis, R. M., Zhang, P., Messing, J., Yurtsever, U., Yang, Z., Wu, J., Li,
 Y., Pan, Q., Yu, J., Martin, E. W., Mittag, T., Kim, H. J. et Taylor, J. P. (2020, Apr 16).
 G3BP1 Is a Tunable Switch that Triggers Phase Separation to Assemble Stress Granules. *Cell*, 181(2), 325-345.e328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.046
- Zekri, L., Chebli, K., Tourrière, H., Nielsen, F. C., Hansen, T. V., Rami, A. et Tazi, J. (2005, Oct).
 Control of fetal growth and neonatal survival by the RasGAP-associated endoribonuclease
 G3BP. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25(19), 8703-8716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.25.19.8703-8716.2005</u>
- Zeng, P. et Zhou, X. (2019, Feb 15). Causal effects of blood lipids on amyotrophic lateral sclerosis:
 a Mendelian randomization study. *Hum Mol Genet*, 28(4), 688-697.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddy384</u>
- Zhan, Y. et Fang, F. (2019, Apr). Smoking and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: A mendelian randomization study. *Ann Neurol*, *85*(4), 482-484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.25443</u>
- Zhang, H. X., Tanji, K., Yoshida, H., Hayakari, M., Shibata, T., Mori, F., Uchida, K. et Wakabayashi, K. (2010, Apr). Alteration of biochemical and pathological properties of

TDP-43 protein by a lipid mediator, 15-deoxy-Delta(12,14)-prostaglandin J(2). *Exp Neurol,* 222(2), 296-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2010.01.007</u>

- Zhang, L. N., Zhao, L., Yan, X. L. et Huang, Y. H. (2019, Nov). Loss of G3BP1 suppresses proliferation, migration, and invasion of esophageal cancer cells via Wnt/β-catenin and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways. J Cell Physiol, 234(11), 20469-20484. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.28648
- Zhang, P., McGrath, B. C., Reinert, J., Olsen, D. S., Lei, L., Gill, S., Wek, S. A., Vattem, K. M., Wek, R. C., Kimball, S. R., Jefferson, L. S. et Cavener, D. R. (2002, Oct). The GCN2 eIF2alpha kinase is required for adaptation to amino acid deprivation in mice. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22(19), 6681-6688. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.22.19.6681-6688.2002
- Zhang, Q., Sharma, N. R., Zheng, Z. M. et Chen, M. (2019, Apr). Viral Regulation of RNA Granules in Infected Cells. Virol Sin, 34(2), 175-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12250-019-00122-3</u>
- Zoccolella, S., Beghi, E., Palagano, G., Fraddosio, A., Guerra, V., Samarelli, V., Lepore, V., Simone, I. L., Lamberti, P., Serlenga, L. et Logroscino, G. (2007, Mar). Riluzole and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis survival: a population-based study in southern Italy. *Eur J Neurol*, 14(3), 262-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2006.01575.x</u>
- Zoccolella, S., Beghi, E., Palagano, G., Fraddosio, A., Guerra, V., Samarelli, V., Lepore, V., Simone, I. L., Lamberti, P., Serlenga, L. et Logroscino, G. (2008, May 15). Predictors of long survival in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population-based study. *J Neurol Sci*, 268(1-2), 28-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2007.10.023</u>